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Foreword



THE 1919 VERSAILLES peace conference that followed the end of the First World War became the most famous, or notorious, diplomatic negotiation in history. Much influenced by Maynard Keynes, an impassioned sympathiser for the German predicament, it was branded for the rest of the twentieth century as a failure, the injustice of which bore heavy responsibility for the rise of Hitler.


Then, in 2001, along came Canadian historian Margaret MacMillan, comparatively unknown outside the academic world, and her book Peacemakers. This was not only a commanding narrative of what took place in Paris during the six months when the world’s mightiest leaders rubbed shoulders with suppliants drawn from scores of peoples, it also challenged the received Keynes thesis. It remained obvious that the eventual five 1919 treaties and supporting agreements did not all reflect the wisdom of Solomon. But it seemed to MacMillan wildly extravagant to suggest that the terms imposed by the victors on the vanquished were so oppressive – even had they been fulfilled, as they were not – that they became responsible for the evolution of Nazism in the decade that followed. Her book was garlanded with laurels and prizes by reviewers and literary juries around the world, and became a huge bestseller. It proved the author’s breakthrough title, paving the way for subsequent triumphs as author, broadcaster, BBC Reith Lecturer and principal of prestigious colleges in Toronto and Oxford.


Moreover, scholarly historical opinion about Versailles has moved MacMillan’s way – rather, perhaps, been moved by her. Adam Tooze’s 2014 work The Deluge is among those which have focused attention on the follies of Germany’s own Weimar government in the 1920s to explain how the Nazis were empowered by the country’s economic collapse. Tooze also argues that the United States was the only nation with the moral authority and financial clout to stabilize Europe after the First World War, had it been willing to exercise those powers, as it was not.


My own admiration for Peacemakers starts with its recognition that treaties to end wars, especially those with multiple belligerents, are enormously difficult to contrive. The challenges increased when, as in 1919, three great European ruling dynasties had fallen and a host of their former subject peoples – Poles, Finns, Hungarians, Czechs, Slovaks and many more – were clamouring for statehood. Then add the consequences of the fall of the Ottoman Empire, the ambitions of Arab peoples and shameless cupidity of the European allies. While the popular view of the British Empire holds that it climaxed under Queen Victoria, it attained its widest geographical limits in the wake of the First World War, with the acquisition of new territories in Africa and the Middle East.


Among the gravest mistakes made by the victorious Great Powers was that they chose to assume responsibility for defeated Germany, without giving themselves local authority to impose a viable new order there. The Allies placed occupation forces only in the Rhineland. Compare and contrast the devastated Reich after the Second World War: its people may not have been suffused with guilt, but they had a stunned, assured understanding of their own subjection, following unconditional surrender, which was enforced by the armies of the victorious occupiers, until in 1949 they decreed new forms of democratic self-government for their respective zones.


In 1918, however, the fabric of Germany was almost untouched. Eastern France and Belgium were ravaged, but Kaiser Wilhelm’s homeland had escaped battlefield destruction, save in East Prussia. In November, US President Woodrow Wilson insisted – against the strong views of Britain and France – that the fighting should terminate with an armistice rather than with Germany’s surrender, which would have been an explicit admission that it was vanquished. In the name of the United States, Wilson opposed the notion of avowing German and Austrian war guilt, central to British and French thinking. Therein lay the basis of the Nazis’ subsequent myth of the ‘stab in the back’ of the German army by politicians at home; the lie that it had not, in truth, suffered battlefield defeat.


It was politically inevitable that the French should demand reparations in cash and kind for the destruction which their country had suffered at German hands, and it was always overwhelmingly probable that Berlin would prove unable to pay. Nonetheless, so much was made of this issue by Germany’s sympathisers, of whom there were astonishingly many in Britain from the 1920s onwards, that it bears emphasis that the Germans eventually paid less cash than they themselves had extracted from France following their victory in the 1870–1 Franco-Prussian War.


Margaret MacMillan brought to her analysis of Versailles a brilliant gift for portraiture, in depicting the giants – Woodrow Wilson, David Lloyd George and Georges Clemenceau, the ‘Tiger of France’. Moreover, her account combines scholarship with common sense in a fashion that is rarely manifested by academics. So many distinguished historians, both of the past and of our own times, approach their chosen themes with a baggage of personal prejudices and scores to pay against rivals and colleagues. I would compare Peacemakers with Barbara Tuchman’s August 1914, another huge bestseller published forty years earlier, equally gripping in its narrative drive and forceful in its impact upon readers, prominent among them President John F. Kennedy, whom that book influenced in his management of the 1962 Cuban Missile Crisis.


Few politicians of any nation nowadays know much history, but if they understood a little about Versailles, they would acknowledge the importance of humility in diplomacy. They would recognize the difficulties of achieving just outcomes with embittered or triumphalist electorates behind the chair of each democratic politician at the conference table. When a negotiation follows a conflict in which millions have perished, how could their compatriots not demand rewards, booty, tangible compensation for the blood sacrifice?


As MacMillan makes plain, it was impossible for the whole Versailles story, embracing the destinies of so many nations, to have ended happily. The Allied leaders did their best for Eastern Europe’s minorities in the grants of statehood – but only after the Second World War, with the expulsions of German minorities from Poland, Hungary and Czechoslovakia, were some of those issues brutally resolved. If we deplore the national leaders who, at the peace table in 1919, sought to assuage their own countries’ wounds suffered in the most terrible war in human history, we should notice that the appetite of many autocrats for territorial expansion, for empire, for acknowledgement that might is right, is as strong in 2025 as it was in the early twentieth centure, and extends even to the United States. Too many of the lessons of Peacemakers are today more honoured in the breach than in the observance. But that should not diminish our gratitude to Margaret MacMillan for teaching us so much about how the highest level of summitry, as Winston Churchill later christened such encounters between national leaders, has been done and should be done.


Max Hastings, June 2025
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Note on Place Names



Many of the places mentioned in this book have several names. For example, L’viv (in present-day Ukraine) is variously Léopol, Lemberg, Lwów or Lvov. I have generally given the names currently used, but where there is a familiar name in English, for example Munich, I have used that. In the case of particular controversies at the Peace Conference, I have followed the usage of 1919: Danzig (Gdansk), Fiume (Rijeka), Memel (Klaipeda), Shantung (Shandong), Teschen (Cieszyn or Těšín), Tsingtao (Qingdao).
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Introduction



IN 1919 PARIS was the capital of the world. The Peace Conference was the world’s most important business, the peacemakers the world’s most powerful people. They met day after day. They argued, debated, quarrelled and made it up again. They made deals. They wrote treaties. They created new countries and new organizations. They dined together and went to the theatre together. For six months, between January and June, Paris was at once the world’s government, its court of appeal and parliament, the focus of its fears and hopes. Officially the Peace Conference lasted even longer, into 1920, but those first six months are the ones that count, when the key decisions were taken and the crucial chains of events set in motion. The world has never seen anything quite like it and never will again.


The peacemakers were there because proud, confident, rich Europe had torn itself to pieces. A war that had started in 1914 over a squabble for power and influence in the Balkans had drawn in all the great powers, from tsarist Russia in the east to Britain in the west, and most of the smaller ones. Only Spain, Switzerland, the Netherlands and the Scandinavian countries had managed to stay out. There had been fighting in Asia, in Africa, in the Pacific islands and in the Middle East, but most had been on European soil, along the crazed network of trenches that stretched from Belgium in the north down to the Alps in the south, along Russia’s borders with Germany and its ally Austria-Hungary, and in the Balkans themselves. Soldiers had come from around the world: Australians, Canadians, New Zealanders, Indians, Newfoundlanders to fight for the British empire; Vietnamese, Moroccans, Algerians, Senegalese for France; and finally the Americans, maddened beyond endurance by German attacks on their shipping.


Away from the great battlefields Europe still looked much the same. The great cities remained, the railway lines still existed, ports still functioned. It was not like the Second World War, when the very bricks and mortar were pulverized. The loss was human. Millions of combatants – for the time for the massive killing of civilians had not yet come – died in those four years: 1,800,000 Germans, 1,700,000 Russians, 1,384,000 French, 1,290,000 from Austria-Hungary, 743,000 British (and another 192,000 from the empire) and on down the list to tiny Montenegro, with 3,000 men. Children lost fathers, wives husbands, young women the chance of marriage. And Europe lost those who might have been its scientists, its poets, its leaders, and the children who might have been born to them. But the tally of deaths does not include those who were left with one leg, one arm or one eye, or those whose lungs had been scarred by poison gas or whose nerves never recovered.


For four years the most advanced nations in the world had poured out their men, their wealth, the fruits of their industry, science and technology, on a war that may have started by accident but was impossible to stop because the two sides were too evenly balanced. It was only in the summer of 1918, as Germany’s allies faltered and as the fresh American troops poured in, that the Allies finally gained the upper hand. The war ended on 11 November. Everywhere people hoped wearily that whatever happened next would not be as bad as what had just finished.


Four years of war shook forever the supreme self-confidence that had carried Europe to world dominance. After the western front Europeans could no longer talk of a civilizing mission to the world. The war toppled governments, humbled the mighty and overturned whole societies. In Russia the revolutions of 1917 replaced tsarism, with what no one yet knew. At the end of the war Austria-Hungary vanished, leaving a great hole at the centre of Europe. The Ottoman empire, with its vast holdings in the Middle East and its bit of Europe, was almost done. Imperial Germany was now a republic. Old nations – Poland, Lithuania, Estonia, Latvia – came out of history to live again and new nations – Yugoslavia and Czechoslovakia – struggled to be born.


The Paris Peace Conference is usually remembered for producing the German treaty, signed at Versailles in June 1919, but it was always about much more than that. The other enemies – Bulgaria, Austria and Hungary, now separate countries, and the Ottoman empire – had to have their treaties. New borders had to be drawn in the centre of Europe and the Middle East. Most important of all, the international order had to be recreated, perhaps on a different basis. Was the time now ripe for an International Labour Organization, a League of Nations, agreements on international telegraph cables or international aviation? After such a great catastrophe the expectations were enormous.


Even before the guns fell silent in 1918 the voices, plaintive, demanding, angry, had started. ‘China Belongs to the Chinese.’ ‘Kurdistan must be free.’ ‘Poland must live again.’ They spoke in many languages. They made many demands. The United States must be the world’s policeman; or, the Americans must go home. The Russians need help; no, they must be left to their own devices. They complained: Slovaks about Czechs; Croats about Serbs; Arabs about Jews; Chinese about Japanese. The voices were worried, uncertain whether the new world order would be an improvement on the old. In the West they murmured about dangerous ideas coming from the East; in the East they pondered the threat of Western materialism. Europeans wondered if they would ever recover. Africans feared that the world had forgotten them. Asians saw that the future was theirs; it was only the present that was the problem.


We know something of what it is to live at the end of a great war. The voices of 1919 were very like the voices of the present. When the Cold War ended in 1989 and Soviet Marxism vanished into the dustbin of history, older forces, religion or nationalism, came out of their deep freeze. Bosnia and Rwanda have reminded us of how strong those forces can be. In 1919 there was the same sense of a new order emerging as borders suddenly shifted and new economic and political ideas were in the air. It was exciting but also frightening in a world that seemed perilously fragile. Today, some argue, resurgent Islam is the menace. In 1919 it was Russian Bolshevism. The difference is that we have not held a peace conference. There is not the time. The statesmen and their advisers come together in brief meetings, for two, perhaps three days, and then take flight again. Who knows which is the better way of settling the world’s problems?


There are many connections between our world and the one of 1919. Take two very different episodes in the summer of 1993. In the Balkans, Serbs and Croats tore apart the state of Yugoslavia. In London the immensely rich inhabitants of the tiny island of Nauru in the Pacific backed an unsuccessful musical based on the life of Leonardo da Vinci. Yugoslavia and Nauru both owed their existence as independent states to the Paris Peace Conference. The arrangements made then have been coming apart ever since. And so many of the dilemmas then are still with us today: relations between Japan and China, Europe and America, Russia and its neighbours, Iraq and the West.


To struggle with those dilemmas and to try to resolve them, statesmen, diplomats, bankers, soldiers, professors, economists and lawyers came to Paris from all corners of the world: the American president, Woodrow Wilson, and his secretary of state, Robert Lansing; Georges Clemenceau and Vittorio Orlando, the prime ministers of France and Italy; Lawrence of Arabia, wrapped in mystery and Arab robes; Eleutherios Venizelos, the great Greek patriot who brought disaster on his country; Ignace Paderewski, the pianist turned politician; and many who had yet to make their mark, among them two future American secretaries of state, a future prime minister of Japan and the first president of Israel. Some had been born to power, such as Queen Marie of Rumania; others, such as David Lloyd George, the prime minister of Britain, had won it through their own efforts.


The concentration of power drew in the world’s reporters, its businessmen, and spokesmen and spokeswomen for a myriad of causes. ‘One only meets people off to Paris’, wrote the French ambassador in London. ‘Paris is going to become a place of amusement for hundreds of English, Americans, Italians and shady foreign gentlemen who are descending on us under the pretext of taking part in the peace discussions.’1 Votes for women, rights for blacks, a charter for labour, freedom for Ireland, disarmament, the petitions and the petitioners rolled in daily from all quarters of the world. That winter and spring Paris hummed with schemes, for a Jewish homeland, a restored Poland, an independent Ukraine, a Kurdistan, an Armenia. The petitions poured in, from the Conference of Suffrage Societies, the Carpatho-Russian Committee in Paris, the Serbs of the Banat, the anti-Bolshevik Russian Political Conference. The petitioners came from countries that existed and ones that were just dreams. Some, such as the Zionists, spoke for millions; others, such as the representatives of the Åland islands in the Baltic, for a few thousand. A few arrived too late; the Koreans from Siberia set out on foot in February 1919 and by the time the main part of the Peace Conference ended in June had only reached the Arctic port of Archangel.2


From the outset the Peace Conference suffered from confusion, over its organization, its purpose and its procedures. Given the range of what came before it, this was probably unavoidable. The Big Four powers – Britain, France, Italy and the United States – planned a preliminary conference to agree on the terms to be offered, after which they intended to hold a full-scale peace conference to negotiate with the enemy. Immediately there were questions. When would the other Allied powers be able to express their views? Japan, for example, was already an important power in the Far East. And what about the smaller powers such as Serbia and Belgium? Both had lost far more men than Japan.


The Big Four gave way and the plenary sessions of the conference became ritual occasions. The real work, however, was done by the Four and Japan in informal meetings, and when those in turn became too cumbersome, by the leaders of the Four. As the months went by, what had been a preliminary conference imperceptibly became the real thing. In a break with diplomatic precedent that infuriated the Germans, their representatives were eventually summoned to France to receive their treaty in its final form.


The peacemakers had hoped to be brisker and better organized. They had carefully studied the only available example – the Congress of Vienna, which wound up the Napoleonic Wars. The Foreign Office commissioned a distinguished historian to write a book on the Congress for guidance in Paris. (He later conceded that his work had almost no impact.3) The problems faced by the peacemakers in Vienna, large though they were, were straight-forward by comparison with those in Paris. The British foreign secretary at the time, Lord Castlereagh, took just fourteen staff with him to Vienna; in 1919 the British delegation numbered nearly 400. And in 1815 matters were settled quietly and at leisure: Castlereagh and his colleagues would have been appalled at the intense public scrutiny of the 1919 Peace Conference. There were also so many more participants: over thirty countries sent delegates to Paris, including Italy, Belgium, Rumania and Serbia, none of which had existed in 1815. The Latin American nations had still been part of the Spanish and Portuguese empires. Thailand, China and Japan had been remote, mysterious countries. Now, in 1919, their diplomats appeared in Paris in pin-striped trousers and frock coats. Apart from a declaration condemning the slave trade, the Congress of Vienna paid no attention to the non-European world. In Paris the subjects covered by the Peace Conference ranged from the Arctic to the Antipodes, from small islands in the Pacific to whole continents.


The Congress of Vienna also took place when the great upheavals set off by the French Revolution in 1789 had subsided. By 1815 its effects had been absorbed, but in 1919 the Russian Revolution was only two years old, its impact on the rest of the world unclear. Western leaders saw Bolshevism seeping out of Russia, threatening religion, tradition, every tie that held their societies together. In Germany and Austria soviets of workers and soldiers were already seizing power in the cities and towns. Their own soldiers and sailors mutinied. Paris, Lyon, Brussels, Glasgow, San Francisco, even sleepy Winnipeg on the Canadian prairies had general strikes. Were these isolated outbreaks or flames from a vast underground fire?


The peacemakers of 1919 believed they were working against time. They had to draw new lines on the maps of Europe, just as their predecessors had done in Vienna, but they also had to think of Asia, Africa and the Middle East. ‘Self-determination’ was the watchword but this was not a help in choosing among competing nationalisms. The peacemakers had to act as policemen and they had to feed the hungry. If they could, they had to create an international order that would make another Great War impossible. Wilson promised new ways of protecting the weak and of settling disputes. The war had been an act of monumental folly and waste, but perhaps some good would result from it. And of course the peacemakers had to draw up the treaties. Clearly Germany had to be dealt with, penalized for starting the war (or was it just for losing, as many suspected?), its future set on more pacific lines, its boundaries adjusted to compensate France in the west and the new nations in the east. Bulgaria had to have its treaty. So did the Ottoman empire. Austria-Hungary presented a particular problem, for it no longer existed. All that was left was a tiny Austria and a shaky Hungary, with most of their territory gone to new nations. The expectations of the Peace Conference were enormous; the risk of disappointment correspondingly great.


The peacemakers also represented their own countries, and, since most of these were democracies, they had to heed their own public opinion. They were bound to think ahead to the next election and to weigh the costs of appeasing or alienating important sections of opinion. They were thus not completely free agents. And the sense that all the old boundaries were up in the air was tempting. It was a time to bring out the old demands and the new ones. The British and the French quietly agreed to divide the Middle East. The Italians blocked the demands of the new Yugoslavia because they did not want a strong neighbour. Clemenceau complained to a colleague: ‘It is much easier to make war than peace.’4


In their months in Paris the peacemakers were to achieve much: a peace treaty with Germany and the bases for peace with Austria, Hungary and Bulgaria. They drew new borders through the middle of Europe and the Middle East. Much of their work, it is true, did not last. People said at the time, as they have ever since, that the peacemakers took too long and that they got it wrong. It has become a commonplace to say that the peace settlements of 1919 were a failure, that they led directly to the Second World War. That is to overestimate their power.


There were two realities in the world of 1919 and they did not always mesh. One was in Paris and the other was on the ground, where people were making their own decisions and fighting their own battles. True, the peacemakers had armies and navies, but where there were few railways, roads or ports, as in the interior of Asia Minor or the Caucasus, moving their forces was slow and laborious. The new aircraft were not yet big enough or strong enough to fill that gap. In the centre of Europe, where the tracks were already laid, the collapse of order meant that, even if engines and cars were available, the fuel was not. ‘It really is no use abusing this or that small state’, Henry Wilson, one of the cleverest of the British generals, told Lloyd George. ‘The root of evil is that the Paris writ does not run.’5


Power involves will, as the United States and the world are discovering today: the will to spend, whether it be money or lives. In 1919 that will had been crippled among the Europeans; the Great War meant that the leaders of France or Britain or Italy no longer had the capacity to order their peoples to pay a high price for power. Their armed forces were shrinking day by day and they could not rely on the soldiers and sailors who were left. Their taxpayers wanted an end to expensive foreign adventures. The United States alone had the capacity to act, but it did not see itself as having that role and its power was not yet great enough. It is tempting to say that the United States lost an opportunity to bend Europe to its will before the competing ideologies of fascism and communism could take hold. That is to read back into the past what we know about American power after another great war. In 1945 the United States was a superpower and the European nations were much weakened. In 1919, however, the United States was not yet significantly stronger than the other powers. The Europeans could, and did, ignore its wishes.


Armies, navies, railways, economies, ideologies, history: all these are important in understanding the Paris Peace Conference. But so too are individuals because, in the end, people draw up reports, make decisions and order armies to move. The peacemakers brought their own national interests with them but they also brought their likes and dislikes. Nowhere were these more important than among the powerful men – especially Clemenceau, Lloyd George and Wilson – who sat down together in Paris.












PART I


Getting Ready for Peace












1


Woodrow Wilson Comes to Europe


ON 4 DECEMBER 1918 the George Washington sailed out of New York with the American delegation to the Peace Conference on board. Guns fired salutes, crowds along the waterfront cheered, tugboats hooted and army planes and dirigibles circled overhead. Robert Lansing, the American secretary of state, released carrier pigeons with messages to his relatives about his deep hope for a lasting peace.1 The ship, a former German passenger liner, slid out past the Statue of Liberty to the Atlantic, where an escort of destroyers and battleships stood by to accompany it and its cargo of heavy expectations to Europe.2


On board were the best available experts, combed out of the universities and the government, crates of reference materials and special studies, the French and Italian ambassadors to the United States, and Woodrow Wilson. No other American president had ever gone to Europe while in office. His opponents accused him of breaking the constitution; even his supporters felt he might be unwise. Would he lose his great moral authority by getting down to the hurly-burly of negotiations? Wilson’s own view was clear. The making of the peace was as important as the winning of the war had been. He owed it to the peoples of Europe, who were crying out for a better world; he owed it to the American servicemen. ‘It is now my duty’, he told a pensive Congress just before he left, ‘to play my full part in making good what they gave their life’s blood to obtain.’ A British diplomat was more cynical; Wilson, he said, was drawn to Paris ‘as a debutante is entranced by the prospect of her first ball’.3


Wilson expected, he wrote to his great friend, Edward House, who was already in Europe, that he would stay only to settle the main outlines of the peace settlements. It was not likely that he would remain for the formal Peace Conference with the enemy.4 He was wrong. The preliminary conference turned, without anyone’s intending it, into the final one and Wilson stayed for most of the crucial six months between January and June 1919. The question of whether or not he should have gone to Paris, which exercised so many of his contemporaries, now seems unimportant. From Franklin Roosevelt at Yalta to Jimmy Carter at Camp David or Bill Clinton at Wye River, American presidents have sat down to draw borders and hammer out peace agreements. Wilson had set the conditions for the armistices which ended the Great War. Why should he not make the peace as well?


Although he had not started out in 1912 as a foreign policy president, circumstances and his own progressive political principles had drawn Wilson outwards. Like many of his compatriots, he had come to see the Great War as a struggle between the forces of democracy, however imperfectly represented by Britain and France, and those of reaction and militarism, represented all too well by Germany and Austria-Hungary. Germany’s sack of Belgium, its unrestricted submarine warfare and its audacity in attempting to entice Mexico into waging war on the United States, had pushed Wilson and American public opinion towards the Allies. When Russia had a democratic revolution in February 1917, one of the last reservations – that the Allies included an autocracy – vanished. Although he had campaigned in 1916 on a platform of keeping the country neutral, Wilson brought the United States into the war in April 1917. He was convinced that he was doing the right thing. This was important to the son of a Presbyterian minister, who shared his father’s deep religious conviction, if not his calling.


Wilson was born in Virginia in 1856, just before the Civil War. Although he remained a southerner in some ways all his life – in his insistence on honour and his paternalistic attitudes to women and to blacks – he also accepted the war’s outcome. Abraham Lincoln was one of his great heroes, along with Edmund Burke and William Gladstone.5 The young Wilson was at once highly idealistic and intensely ambitious. After four very happy years at Princeton and an unhappy stint as a lawyer, he found his first career in teaching and writing. By 1890 he was back at Princeton, a star member of the faculty. In 1902 he became its president, supported virtually unanimously by the trustees, faculty and students.


In the next eight years Wilson transformed Princeton from a sleepy college for gentlemen into a great university. He reworked the curriculum, raised significant amounts of money and brought into the faculty the brightest and the best young men from across the country. By 1910 he was a national figure and the Democrat party in New Jersey, under the control of conservative bosses, invited him to run for governor. Wilson agreed but insisted on running on a progressive platform of controlling big business and extending democracy. He swept the state and by 1911 ‘Wilson for President’ clubs were springing up. He spoke for the dispossessed, the disenfranchised and all those who had been left behind by the rapid economic growth of the late nineteenth century. In 1912, at a long and hard-fought convention, Wilson got the Democratic nomination for president. That November, with the Republicans split by Teddy Roosevelt’s decision to run as a progressive, Wilson was elected president. In 1916 he was re-elected with an even greater share of the popular vote.


His career was a series of triumphs, but there were darker moments, both personal and political, fits of depression and sudden and baﬄing illnesses. Moreover, he had left behind him a trail of enemies, many of them former friends. ‘An ingrate and a liar’, said a Democratic boss in New Jersey in a toast.6 Wilson never forgave those who disagreed with him. ‘He is a good hater’, said his press officer and devoted admirer Ray Stannard Baker.7 He was also stubborn. As House said with admiration: ‘Whenever a question is presented he keeps an absolutely open mind and welcomes all suggestion or advice which will lead to a correct decision. But he is receptive only during the period that he is weighing the question and preparing to make his decision. Once the decision is made it is final and there is an absolute end to all advice and suggestion. There is no moving him after that.’8 What was admirable to some was a dangerous egotism to others. The French ambassador in Washington saw ‘a man who, had he lived a couple of centuries ago, would have been the greatest tyrant in the world, because he does not seem to have the slightest conception that he can ever be wrong’.9


This side of Wilson’s character was in evidence when he chose his fellow commissioners, or plenipotentiaries, as the chief delegates were known, to the Peace Conference. He was himself one. House, ‘my alterego’, as he was fond of saying, was another. Reluctantly he selected Lansing, his secretary of state, as a third, mainly because it would have been awkward to leave him behind. Where Wilson had once rather admired Lansing’s vast store of knowledge, his meticulous legal mind and his apparent readiness to take a back seat, by 1919 that early liking had turned to irritation and contempt. Lansing, it turned out, did have views, often strong ones which contradicted the president’s. ‘He has’, Wilson complained to House, who noted it down with delight, ‘no imagination, no constructive ability, and but little real ability of any kind.’10 The fourth plenipotentiary, General Tasker Bliss, was already in France as the American military representative on the Supreme War Council. A thoughtful and intelligent man who loved to lie in bed with a hip flask reading Thucydides in the original Greek, he was also, many of the junior members of the American delegation believed, well past his prime. Since Wilson was to speak to him on only five occasions during the Peace Conference, that perhaps did not matter.11 The president’s final selection, Henry White, was a charming, affable, retired diplomat, the high point of whose career had been well before the war. Mrs Wilson was to find him useful in Paris on questions of etiquette.12


Wilson’s selection caused an uproar in the United States at the time and has caused controversy ever since. ‘A lot of cheapskates’, said the former Republican president William Taft. ‘I would swear if it would do any good.’13 Wilson had deliberately slighted the Republicans, most of whom had supported the war enthusiastically and many of whom now shared his vision of a League of Nations. ‘I tell you what’, the humorist Will Rogers had him saying to the Republicans, ‘we will split 50–50 – I will go and you fellows can stay.’ Even his most partisan supporters had urged him to appoint men such as Taft or the senior Republican senator on the important Committee on Foreign Relations, Henry Cabot Lodge. Wilson refused, with a variety of unconvincing excuses.14 The real reason was that he did not like or trust Republicans. His decision was costly, because it undercut his position in Paris and damaged his dream of a new world order with the United States at its heart.


Wilson remains puzzling in a way that Lloyd George and Clemenceau, his close colleagues in Paris, do not. What is one to make of a leader who drew on the most noble language of the Bible, yet who was so ruthless with those who crossed him? Who loved democracy but despised most of his fellow politicians? Who wanted to serve humanity but had so few personal relationships? Was he, as Teddy Roosevelt thought, ‘as insincere and cold-blooded an opportunist as we have ever had in the Presidency’?15 Or was he, as Baker believed, one of those rare idealists like Calvin or Cromwell, ‘who from time to time have appeared upon the earth & for a moment, in burst of strange power, have temporarily lifted erring mankind to a higher pitch of contentment than it was quite equal to’?16


Wilson wanted power and he wanted to do great works. What brought the two sides of his character together was his ability, self-deception perhaps, to frame his decisions so that they became not merely necessary, but morally right. Just as American neutrality in the first years of the war had been right for Americans, and indeed humanity, so the United States’ eventual entry into the war became a crusade, against human greed and folly, against Germany and for justice, peace and civilization. This conviction, however, without which he could never have attempted what he did in Paris, made Wilson intolerant of differences and blind to the legitimate concerns of others. Those who opposed him were not just wrong but wicked.


Like the Germans. The decision to go to war had been agony for Wilson. He had worked for a peace of compromise between the Allies and the Central Powers. Even when they had rejected his offer to mediate, when German submarines had sunk American shipping, when opponents such as Roosevelt had attacked his cowardice and when his own cabinet had been unanimous for war, he had waited. In the end he decided because, as he saw it, Germany left him no alternative. ‘It is a fearful thing’, he told Congress in April 1917, when he went before it to ask for a declaration of war, ‘to lead this great peaceful people into war, into the most terrible and disastrous of all wars, civilization itself seeming to be in the balance.’17 In Wilson’s mind Germany, or at the very least its leaders, bore a heavy burden of guilt. The Germans might be redeemed, but they also must be chastised.


The photographs taken in 1919 make him look like a cadaverous undertaker, but in the flesh Wilson was a handsome man, with fine, straight features and a spare, upright frame. In his manner he had something of the preacher and of the university professor. He placed great faith in reason and facts, but he saw it as auspicious that he landed in Europe on Friday 13 December. Thirteen was his lucky number.18 A deeply emotional man, he mistrusted emotion in others. It was good when it brought people to desire the best, dangerous when, like nationalism, it intoxicated them. Lloyd George, who never entirely got his measure, listed his good qualities to a friend – ‘kindly, sincere, straightforward’ – and then added in the next breath ‘tactless, obstinate and vain’.19


In public Wilson was stiff and formal, but with his intimates he was charming and even playful. He was particularly at ease with women. He was usually in perfect control of himself, but during the Peace Conference he frequently lost his temper. (It is possible he suffered a stroke while he was in Paris.) He loved puns and limericks and he liked to illustrate his points with folksy stories. He enjoyed doing accents: Scottish or Irish, like his ancestors, or southern black, like the people who worked for him in Washington. He was abstemious in his habits; at most he would drink a small glass of whisky in an evening. He loved gadgets and liked the new moving pictures. On the voyage to Europe he generally went to the after-dinner picture shows. To general consternation the feature one evening was a melodrama called The Second Wife.20


Wilson’s relations with women had always caused a certain amount of gossip. During his first marriage he had close, possibly even romantic, friendships with several women. His first wife, whom he had loved deeply if not passionately, had died in 1914; by the end of 1915 he was married again, to a wealthy Washington widow some seventeen years his junior. That this caused gossip bewildered and infuriated him. He never forgave a British diplomat for a joke that went around Washington: ‘What did the new Mrs Wilson do when the President proposed?’ ‘She fell out of bed with surprise.’ Wilson’s own family and friends were more charitable. ‘Isn’t it wonderful to see Father so happy’, exclaimed a daughter. House, who was later to become Mrs Wilson’s bitter enemy, wrote in his diary that it was a relief that Wilson had someone to share his burdens: ‘his loneliness is pathetic.’21


Edith Bolling, the new Mrs Wilson, accompanied the president to Europe, a privilege not allowed lesser wives. She was warm and lively and laughed a great deal. She loved golf, shopping, orchids and parties. She had, everyone agreed, wonderful eyes, but some found her a bit plump and her mouth too large. She wore, they thought in Paris, her clothes a little too tight, the necks too low, the skirts too short.22 Wilson thought she was beautiful. Like him, she came from the south. She did not want to spoil her maid by taking her to London, she told a fellow American, because the British treated blacks too well.23 Although she had the easy flirtatious ways of a southern woman, she was a shrewd businesswoman. After her first husband’s death she had run the family jewellery store. When she married Wilson, he made it clear that he expected her to share his work. She took up the offer with enthusiasm. No intellectual, she was quick and determined.24 She was also ferociously loyal to her new husband. Wilson adored her.


On board the George Washington the Wilsons kept to themselves, eating most of their meals in their stateroom and strolling on the deck arm in arm. The American experts worked away on their maps and their papers, asking each other, with some disquiet, what their country’s policies were to be. Wilson had said much about general principles but had mentioned few specifics. A young man called William Bullitt boldly went up to the president and told him that they were all confused by his silence. Wilson was surprised but agreed pleasantly to meet with a dozen of the leading experts. ‘It is absolutely the first time’, said one afterwards, ‘the president has let anyone know what his ideas are and what his policy is.’ There were to be few other such occasions.25 The experts left the meeting heartened and impressed. Wilson was informal and friendly. He spoke about the heavy task ahead and how he was going to rely on them to provide him with the best information. They must feel free to come to him at any time. ‘You tell me what’s right and I’ll fight for it.’ He apologized for talking about his own ideas: ‘they weren’t very good but he thought them better than anything else he had heard.’26


When it came to making peace, Wilson said, their country would rightly hold the position of arbiter. They must live up to the great American traditions of justice and generosity. They would be, after all, ‘the only disinterested people at the Peace Conference’. What was more, he warned, ‘the men whom we were about to deal with did not represent their own people.’ This was one of Wilson’s deep convictions, curious in a man whose own Congress was now dominated by his political opponents. Throughout the Peace Conference he clung to the belief that he spoke for the masses and that, if only he could reach them – whether French, Italian or even Russian – they would rally to his views.27


He touched on another favourite theme: the United States, he assured his audience, had not entered the war for selfish reasons. In this, as in so much else, it was unlike other nations, for it did not want territory, tribute or even revenge. (As a sign that American participation in the war was different from that of the Europeans, Wilson had always insisted on the United States being an Associate and not an Ally.) The United States generally acted unselfishly, in its occupation of Cuba, for example. ‘We had gone to war with Spain’, he insisted, ‘not for annexation but to provide the helpless colony with the opportunity of freedom.’28


Wilson tended to draw on Latin American examples since most of his formative experiences in foreign relations had been there. He had recast, at least to his own satisfaction, the Monroe Doctrine, that famous defiance hurled at the Europeans in 1823 to warn them off attempting to colonize the New World again. The doctrine had become a fundamental precept in American foreign policy, a cloak, many said, for US dominance of its neighbours. Wilson saw it rather as the framework within which all the nations of the Americas worked peacefully together, and a model for the warring European nations. Lansing was dubious, as he often was of Wilson’s ideas: ‘the doctrine is exclusively a national policy of the United States and relates to its national safety and vital interests.’29


Wilson paid little attention to what he regarded as niggling objections from Lansing.30 He was clear in his own mind that he meant well. When the American troops went to Haiti or Nicaragua or the Dominican Republic, it was to further order and democracy. ‘I am going to teach’, he had said in his first term as president, ‘the South American Republics to elect good men!’31 He rarely mentioned that he was also protecting the Panama Canal and American investments. During Wilson’s presidency the United States intervened repeatedly in Mexico to try to get the sort of government it wanted. ‘The purpose of the United States’, Wilson said, ‘is solely and singly to secure peace and order in Central America by seeing to it that the processes of self-government there are not interrupted or set aside.’32 He was taken aback when the Mexicans failed to see the landing of American troops, and American threats, in the same light.


The Mexican adventure also showed Wilson’s propensity, perhaps unconscious, to ignore the truth. When he sent troops to Mexico for the first time, he told Congress that it was in response to repeated provocations and insults to the United States and its citizens from General Huerta, the man who started the Mexican revolution. Huerta in fact had taken great care to avoid doing that.33 At the Paris Peace Conference Wilson was to claim that he had never seen the secret wartime agreements among the Allies, promising Italy, for example, enemy territory. The British foreign secretary, Arthur Balfour, had shown them to him in 1917. 34 Lansing said sourly of his president: ‘Even established facts were ignored if they did not fit in with this intuitive sense, this semi-divine power to select the right.’35


As the Mexican imbroglio demonstrated, Wilson was not afraid to use his country’s considerable power, whether financial or military. And by the end of the Great War the United States was much more powerful than it had been in 1914. Then it had possessed a minuscule army and a middle-sized navy; now it had over a million troops in Europe alone and a navy that rivalled Britain’s. Indeed Americans tended to assume that they had won the war for their European Allies.36 The American economy had surged ahead as American farmers and American factories poured out wheat, pork, iron, steel for the Allied war effort. As the American share of world production and trade rose inexorably, that of the European powers stagnated or declined. Most significant of all for their future relations, the United States had become the banker to the Europeans. Together the European Allies owed over $7 billion to the American government, and about half as much again to American banks. Wilson assumed, over-confidently as it turned out, that the United States would get its way simply by applying financial pressure.37 As his legal adviser David Hunter Miller said, ‘Europe is bankrupt financially and its governments are bankrupt morally. The mere hint of withdrawal by America by reason of opposition to her wishes for justice, for fairness, and for peace would see the fall of every government in Europe without exception, and a revolution in every country in Europe with one possible exception.’38


In that meeting on the George Washington Wilson also talked briefly about the difficulties that lay ahead with the nations emerging from the wreckage of central Europe: Poles, Czechs, Yugoslavs and many more. They could have whatever form of government they wanted, but they must include in their new states only those who wanted to be there. ‘Criterion not who are intellectual or social or economic leaders but who form mass of people’, a member of his audience wrote down. ‘Must have liberty – that is the kind of government they want.’39


Of all the ideas Wilson brought to Europe, this concept of self-determination was, and has remained, one of the most controversial and opaque. During the Peace Conference the head of the American mission in Vienna sent repeated requests to Paris and Washington for an explanation of the term. No answer ever came.40 It has never been easy to establish what Wilson meant. ‘Autonomous development’, ‘the right of those who submit to authority to have a voice in their own governments’, ‘the rights and liberties of small nations’, a world made safe ‘for every peace-loving nation which, like our own, wishes to live its own life, determine its own institutions’41: the phrases had poured out from the White House, an inspiration to peoples around the world. But what did they add up to? Did Wilson merely mean, as sometimes appeared, an extension of democratic self-government? Did he really intend that any people who called themselves a nation should have their own state?42 In a statement he drafted, but never used, to persuade the American people to support the peace settlements, he stated, ‘we say now that all these people have the right to live their own lives under governments which they themselves choose to set up. That is the American principle.’43 Yet he had no sympathy for Irish nationalists and their struggle to free themselves from British rule. During the Peace Conference he insisted that the Irish question was a domestic matter for the British. When a delegation of nationalist Irish asked him for support, he felt, he told his legal adviser, like telling them to go to hell. His view was that the Irish lived in a democratic country and they could sort it out through democratic means.44


The more Wilson’s concept of self-determination is examined, the more difficulties appear. Lansing asked himself: ‘When the President talks of “self-determination” what unit has he in mind? Does he mean a race, a territorial area, or a community?’ It was a calamity, Lansing thought, that Wilson had ever hit on the phrase. ‘It will raise hopes which can never be realized. It will, I fear, cost thousands of lives. In the end it is bound to be discredited, to be called the dream of an idealist who failed to realize the danger until it was too late to check those who attempt to put the principle into force.’45 What, as Lansing asked, made a nation? Was it a shared citizenship, like the United States, or a shared ethnicity, like Ireland? If it was not self-governing, ought it to be? And in that case, how much self-government was enough? Could a nation, however defined, exist happily within a larger multinational state? Sometimes Wilson seemed to think so. He came, after all, from a country that sheltered many different nationalities and which had fought a bitter war, which he remembered well, to stay in one piece.


Initially he did not want to break up the big multinational empires such as Austria-Hungary or Russia. In February 1918 he had told Congress that ‘well-defined’ national aspirations should be satisfied without, however, ‘introducing new or perpetuating old elements of discord and antagonism that would be likely in time to break the peace of Europe, and consequently of the world’.46


That led to another series of questions. What was a ‘well-defined’ nationalism? Polish? That was an obvious one. But what about Ukrainian? Or Slovak? And what about subdivisions? Ukrainian Catholics, for example, or Protestant Poles? The possibilities for dividing up peoples were unending, especially in central Europe, where history had left a rich mix of religions, languages and cultures. About half the people living there could be counted as members of one national minority or another.47 How were peoples to be allocated to one country or another when the dividing lines between one nation and another were so unclear? One solution was to leave it to the experts. Let them study the history, collect the statistics and consult the locals. Another, more apparently democratic solution, which has been floating around in international relations since the French Revolution, was to give the locals a choice through a plebiscite, with a secret vote, administered by some international body. Wilson himself does not seem to have assumed that self-determination implied plebiscites, but by 1918 many people did. Who was to vote? Only men, or women as well? Only residents, or anyone who had been born in the disputed locality? (The French firmly rejected the idea of a plebiscite on their lost provinces of Alsace and Lorraine on the grounds that the vote would be unfair because Germany had forced French speakers out and brought in Germans.) And what if the locals did not know which nation they belonged to? In 1920, when an outside investigator asked a peasant in Belarus, on the frontiers where Russians, Poles, Lithuanians, Byelorussians and Ukrainians all mingled, who he was, the only answer that came back was ‘I am a Catholic of these parts.’48 What do you do, asked American experts in Carinthia in the Austrian Alps, when you have people ‘who do not want to join the nation of their blood-brothers, or else are absolutely indifferent to all national questions’?49


At the end of 1919 a chastened Wilson told Congress, ‘When I gave utterance to those words [“that all nations had a right to self-determination”], I said them without the knowledge that nationalities existed, which are coming to us day after day.’50 He was not responsible for the spread of national movements looking for their own states – that had been going on since the end of the eighteenth century – but, as Sidney Sonnino, the Italian foreign minister, put it, ‘the War undoubtedly had had the effect of over-exciting the feeling of nationality … Perhaps America fostered it by putting the principles so clearly.’51


Wilson spent most of his time in the meeting with his experts on the matter closest to his heart: the need to find a new way of managing international relations. This did not come as a surprise to his audience. In his famous Fourteen Points of January 1918 and subsequent speeches he had sketched out his ideas. The balance of power, he told the American Congress in his ‘Four Principles’ speech of February 1918, was for ever discredited as a way to keep peace. There would be no more secret diplomacy of the sort that had led Europe into calculating deals, rash promises, and entangling alliances and so on down the slope to war. The peace settlements must not leave the way open to future wars. There must be no retribution, no unjust claims and no huge fines – indemnities – paid by the losers to the winners. That was what had been wrong after Prussia defeated France in 1870. The French had never forgiven Germany for the monies paid over and for the loss of their provinces of Alsace and Lorraine. War itself must become more difficult. There must be controls on armaments, general disarmament even. Ships must sail freely across the world’s seas. (That meant, as the British well knew, the end of their traditional weapon of strangling enemy economies by blockading their ports and seizing their shipping; it had brought Napoleon down, and, so they thought, hastened the Allied victory over Germany.) Trade barriers must be lowered so the nations of the world would become more interdependent.


At the heart of Wilson’s vision was a League of Nations to provide the collective security that, in a well-run civil society, was provided by the government, its laws, its courts and its police. ‘Old system of powers, balance of powers, had failed too often’, one expert jotted down, as the president spoke. The League was to have a council that could ‘butt in’ in case of disputes. ‘If unsuccessful the offending nation to be outlawed – “And outlaws are not popular now”.’52


Wilson’s was a liberal and a Christian vision. It challenged the view that the best way to preserve the peace was to balance nations against each other, through alliances if necessary, and that strength, not collective security, was the way to deter attack. Wilson was also offering a riposte to the alternative being put out by the Russian Bolsheviks, that revolution would bring one world, where conflict would no longer exist. He believed in separate nations and in democracy, both as the best form of government and as a force for good in the world. When governments were chosen by their people, they would not, indeed they could not, fight each other.53 ‘These are American principles’, he told the Senate in 1917. ‘We could stand for no others. And they are also the principles and policies of forward looking men and women everywhere, of every modern nation, of every enlightened community. They are the principles of mankind and they must prevail.’54 He was speaking, he thought, for humanity. Americans tended to see their values as universal ones, and their government and society as a model for all others. The United States, after all, had been founded by those who wanted to leave an old world behind, and its revolution was, in part, about creating a new one. American democracy, the American constitution, even American ways of doing business, were examples that others should follow for their own good. As one of the younger Americans said in Paris: ‘Before we get through with these fellows over here we will teach them how to do things and how to do them quickly.’55 


The Americans had a complicated attitude towards the Europeans: a mixture of admiration for their past accomplishments, a conviction that the Allies would have been lost without the United States and a suspicion that, if the Americans were not careful, the wily Europeans would pull them into their toils again. As they prepared for the Peace Conference, the American delegates suspected that the French and the British were already preparing their traps. Perhaps the offer of an African colony, or a protectorate over Armenia or Palestine would tempt the United States – and then suddenly it would be too late. The Americans would find themselves touching pitch while the Europeans looked on with delight.56


American exceptionalism has always had two sides: the one eager to set the world to rights, the other ready to turn its back with contempt if its message should be ignored. The peace settlement, Wilson told his fellow passengers, must be based on the new principles: ‘If it doesn’t work right, the world will raise hell.’ He himself, he added half-jokingly, would go somewhere to ‘hide my head, perhaps to Guam’.57 Faith in their own exceptionalism has sometimes led to a certain obtuseness on the part of Americans, a tendency to preach at other nations rather than listen to them, a tendency as well to assume that American motives are pure where those of others are not. And Wilson was very American. He came to the Peace Conference, said Lloyd George, like a missionary to rescue the heathen Europeans, with his ‘little sermonettes’ full of rather obvious remarks.58


It was easy to mock Wilson, and many did. It is also easy to forget how important his principles were in 1919 and how many people, and not just in the United States, wanted to believe in his great dream of a better world. They had, after all, a terrible reference point in the ruin left by the Great War. Wilson kept alive the hope that human society, despite the evidence, was getting better, that nations would one day live in harmony. In 1919, before disillusionment had set in, the world was more than ready to listen to him. What Wilson had to say struck a chord, not just with liberals or pacifists but also among Europe’s political and diplomatic élites, who, it was later said falsely, would have none of it. Sir Maurice Hankey, secretary to the British War Cabinet and then the Peace Conference itself, always carried a copy of the Fourteen Points in the box he kept for crucial reference material. They were, he said, the ‘moral background’.59 Across Europe there were squares, streets, railway stations and parks bearing Wilson’s name. Wall posters cried, ‘We Want a Wilson Peace’. In Italy soldiers knelt in front of his picture; in France the left-wing paper L’Humanité brought out a special issue in which the leading lights of the French left vied with each other to praise Wilson’s name. The leaders of the Arab revolt in the desert, Polish nationalists in Warsaw, rebels in the Greek islands, students in Peking, Koreans trying to shake off Japan’s control, all took the Fourteen Points as their inspiration.60 Wilson himself found it exhilarating but also terrifying. ‘I am wondering’, he said to George Creel, his brilliant propaganda chief, who was on board the George Washington, ‘whether you have not unconsciously spun a net for me from which there is no escape.’ The whole world was turning to the United States but, he went on, they both knew that such great problems could not be fixed at once. ‘What I seem to see – with all my heart I hope that I am wrong – is a tragedy of disappointment.’61


The George Washington reached the French port of Brest on 13 December 1918. The war had been over for just a month. While the president stood on the bridge, his ship steamed slowly in through a great avenue of battleships from the British, French and American navies. For the first time in days the sun was shining. The streets were lined with laurel wreaths and flags. On the walls posters paid tribute to Wilson, those from right-wingers for saving them from Germany and those from the left for the new world he promised. Huge numbers of people, many resplendent in their traditional Breton costumes, covered every inch of pavement, every roof, every tree. Even the lampposts were taken. The air filled with the skirl of Breton bagpipes and repeated shouts of ‘Vive l’Amérique, Vive Wilson’. The French foreign minister, Stéphen Pichon, welcomed him, saying, ‘we are so thankful that you have come over to give us the right kind of peace.’ Wilson made a non-committal reply and the American party boarded the night train for Paris. At three in the morning Wilson’s doctor happened to look out the window of his compartment. ‘I saw not only men and women but little children standing with uncovered head to cheer the passage of the special train.’62


Wilson’s reception in Paris was an even greater triumph, with even greater crowds, ‘the most remarkable demonstration’, said an American who lived in Paris, ‘of enthusiasm and affection on the part of the Parisians that I have ever heard of, let alone seen’. His train pulled into the Luxembourg station, which had been festooned with bunting and flags, and filled with great masses of flowers. Clemenceau, the French prime minister, was there with his government and his long-standing antagonist the president, Raymond Poincaré. As guns boomed across Paris to announce Wilson’s arrival, the crowds started to press against the soldiers who lined the route. The president and his wife drove in an open carriage through the Place de la Concorde and on up the Champs-Elysées to their residence, to the sound of wild cheers. That night at a quiet family dinner Wilson said he was very pleased with his reception. ‘He had carefully watched the attitude of the crowd’, he told the table, ‘and he was satisfied that they were most friendly.’63
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First Impressions


THE AFTERNOON OF his arrival in Paris, Wilson had a reunion with his most trusted adviser. Colonel Edward House did not look like the rich Texan he was. Small, pale, self-effacing and frail, he often sat with a blanket over his knees because he could not bear the cold. Just as the Peace Conference was starting, he went down with flu and nearly died. He spoke in a soft gentle voice, working his small delicate hands, said an observer, as though he was holding some object in them. He invariably sounded calm, reasonable and cheerful.1 People often thought of one of the great French cardinals of the past, of Mazarin perhaps.


He was not really a colonel; that was only an honorary title. He had never fought in a war but he knew much about conflict. The Texas of his childhood was a world where men brought out their guns at the first hint of an insult. He was riding and shooting by the time he was three. One brother had half his face shot off in a childish gun fight; another died falling off a trapeze. Then House too had an accident when he fell from a rope and hit his head. He never fully recovered. Since he could no longer dominate others physically, he learned to do so psychologically. ‘I used to like to set boys at each other’, he told a biographer, ‘to see what they would do, and then try to bring them around again.’2


He became a master at understanding men. Almost everyone who met him found him immediately sympathetic and friendly. ‘An intimate man’, said the son of one of his enemies, ‘even when he was cutting your throat.’3 House loved power and politics, especially when he could operate behind the scenes. In Paris, Baker called him, only half in admiration, ‘the small knot hole through which must pass many great events’.4 He rarely gave interviews and almost never took official appointments. This, of course, made him the object of intense speculation. He merely wanted, he often said, to be useful. In his diary, though, House himself carefully noted the powerful and importunate who lined up to see him. He also faithfully recorded every compliment, no matter how fulsome.5


He was a Democrat, like most southerners of his race, but on the liberal, progressive side of the party. When Wilson moved into politics, House, already a figure in Texas politics, recognized someone he could work with. The two men met for the first time in 1911, as Wilson was preparing to run for president. ‘Almost from the first our association was intimate’, House remembered years later, when the friendship had broken down irrevocably, ‘almost from the first, our minds vibrated in unison.’6 He gave Wilson the unstinting affection and loyalty he required and Wilson gave him power. When his first wife died, Wilson became even more dependent on House. ‘You are the only person in the world with whom I can discuss everything’, he wrote in 1915. ‘There are some I can tell one thing and others another, but you are the only one to whom I can make an entire clearance of mind.’7 When the second Mrs Wilson appeared on the scene, she watched House carefully, with eyes sharpened with jealousy.


When the war broke out, Wilson sent House off to the capitals of Europe in fruitless attempts to stop the fighting and, as the war came to an end, he hastily dispatched House to Paris to negotiate the armistice terms. ‘I have not given you any instructions’, Wilson told him, ‘because I feel that you will know what to do.’8 House agreed with all his heart that Wilson’s new diplomacy was the best hope for the world. He thought the League of Nations a wonderful idea. He also thought he could do better than Wilson in achieving their common goals. Where the president was too idealistic, too dogmatic, he, House, was a fixer, with a nod here, a shrug there, a slight change of emphasis, a promise first to this one and then that, smoothing over differences and making things work. He had not really wanted Wilson to come to the Peace Conference. In his diary, during the next months, the loyal lieutenant was to list Wilson’s mistakes methodically: his outbursts of temper, his inconsistencies, his clumsiness in negotiations and his ‘one-track’ mind.9


Clemenceau liked House enormously, partly because he was amused by him, but also because he seemed to understand France’s concerns so well.10 ‘I can get on with you,’ Clemenceau told him, ‘you are practical. I understand you but talking to Wilson is something like talking to Jesus Christ!’11 Lloyd George was cooler: House ‘saw more clearly than most men – or even women – to the bottom of the shallow waters which are to be found here and there in the greatest of oceans and of men’. A charming man, in Lloyd George’s opinion, but rather limited – ‘essentially a salesman and not a producer’. House would have been a good ambassador, but never a foreign minister. ‘It is perhaps to his credit’, Lloyd George concluded kindly, ‘that he was not nearly as cunning as he thought he was.’12 House could not bear Lloyd George, ‘a mischief maker who changes his mind like a weather-cock. He has no profound knowledge of any of the questions with which he is dealing.’13 But Lloyd George knew how to keep his eye on the ends. House, who thought every disagreement could be worked out, did not. ‘He is a marvellous conciliator’, was Baker’s opinion, ‘but with the faults of his virtue for he conciliates over … minor disagreements into the solid flesh of principle.’14 House had already done this during the armistice discussions.


The Great War had begun with a series of mistakes and it ended in confusion. The Allies (and let us include their Associate the United States in the term) were not expecting victory when it came. Austria-Hungary was visibly collapsing in the summer of 1918 but Germany still looked strong. Allied leaders planned for at least another year of war. By the end of October, however, Germany’s allies were falling away and suing for armistices, the German army was streaming back towards its own borders and Germany itself was shaking with revolutionary outbursts. The armistice with Germany, the most important and ultimately the most controversial of all, was made in a three-cornered negotiation between the new German government in Berlin, the Allied Supreme War Council in Paris and Wilson in Washington. House, as Wilson’s personal representative, was the key link between them. The Germans, rightly calculating that their best chance for moderate peace terms was to throw themselves on Wilson’s mercy, asked for an armistice based on the Fourteen Points. Wilson, who was eager to push his somewhat reluctant European allies to accept his principles, agreed in a series of public notes.


The Europeans found this irritating. Furthermore, they had never been prepared to accept the Fourteen Points without modification. The French wanted to make sure that they received compensation for the enormous damage done to France by the German invasion. The British could not agree to the point about freedom of the seas, for that would prevent them from using the naval blockade as a weapon against their enemies. In a final series of discussions in Paris, House agreed to the Allied reservations and so the Fourteen Points were modified to allow for what later came to be called reparations from Germany and for discussions on freedom of the seas at the Peace Conference itself. In addition, the military terms of the armistice, which called for not just the evacuation of French and Belgian territory but also the withdrawal of German troops from the western edge of Germany itself, went a long way towards disarming Germany, something the French devoutly wished for.15


The way the armistice was made left much room for later recrimination. The Germans were able to say that they had only accepted it on the basis of the original Fourteen Points and that the subsequent peace terms were therefore largely illegitimate. And Wilson and his supporters were able to blame the wily Europeans for diluting the pure intentions of the new diplomacy.


When House and Wilson had their first conversation on the afternoon of 14 December 1918, they were already suspicious of European intentions. Although the Peace Conference was not to start officially for another few weeks, the manoeuvring had begun. Clemenceau had already suggested to the British that they come up with a general agreement on the peace terms, and the Europeans, including the Italians, had met in London at the beginning of the month.16 Wisely, Clemenceau took out insurance. He visited House on his sick-bed to assure him that the London meetings had no importance whatsoever. He himself was only going over because it might help Lloyd George in his forthcoming general election.17 As it turned out, between disagreements over Italy’s territorial demands in the Adriatic and squabbling between Britain and France over the disposition of the Ottoman empire, the meetings failed to produce a common European approach. All three European powers were also anxious not to give Wilson the impression that they were trying to settle things before he arrived.


House, who shared Wilson’s view that the United States was going to be the arbiter of the peace, believed, without much evidence, that Clemenceau was likely to be more reasonable than Lloyd George. Conveniently, Wilson met Clemenceau first. The wily old statesman listened quietly as Wilson did most of the talking, intervening only to express approval of the League of Nations. Wilson was favourably impressed and House, who hoped that France and the United States would make a common front against Britain, was delighted.18 The Wilsons spent Christmas Day with General Pershing at American headquarters outside Paris and then left for London.


In Britain, Wilson was again greeted by large and adoring crowds, but his private talks with British leaders did not initially go well. The president was inclined to be stiff, offended that Lloyd George and senior British ministers had not rushed over to France to welcome him and annoyed that the British general election meant the start of the Peace Conference would have to be delayed. Wilson was, like many Americans, torn in his attitude to Great Britain, at once conscious of the United States’ debt to its great liberal traditions but also wary and envious of its power. ‘If England insisted on maintaining naval dominance after the war’, Wilson told André Tardieu, Clemenceau’s close colleague, ‘the United States could and would show her how to build a navy!’19 At a gala reception at Buckingham Palace, Wilson spoke bluntly to a British official (who at once passed on the remarks to his superiors): ‘You must not speak of us who come over here as cousins, still less as brothers; we are neither.’ It was misleading, he went on, to talk of an Anglo-Saxon world, when so many Americans were from other cultures; foolish, also, to make too much of the fact that both nations spoke English. ‘No, there are only two things which can establish and maintain closer relations between your country and mine: they are community of ideals and of interests.’20 The British were further taken aback when Wilson failed to reply to a toast from the king to American forces with a similar compliment to the British. ‘There was no glow of friendship’, Lloyd George commented, ‘or of gladness at meeting men who had been partners in a common enterprise and had so narrowly escaped a common danger.’21


Lloyd George, who recognized the supreme importance of a good relationship with the United States, set out to charm Wilson. Their first private conversation began the thaw.22 Lloyd George reported with relief to his colleagues that Wilson seemed open to compromise on the issues the British considered important, such as freedom of the seas and the fate of Germany’s colonies. Wilson had given the impression that his main concern was the League of Nations, which he wanted to discuss as soon as the Peace Conference opened. Lloyd George had agreed. It would, he said, make dealing with the other matters much easier. The two leaders had also talked about how they should proceed at the Peace Conference. Presumably, they would follow the customary practice and sit down with Germany and the other defeated nations to draw up treaties.23


Past practice offered little guidance, though, for the new order that Wilson wanted. The rights of conquest and victory were woven deeply into European history and previous wars – the Napoleonic, for example – had ended with the victors helping themselves to what they wanted, whether land or art treasures. Moreover the defeated had been expected to pay an indemnity for the costs of the war and sometimes reparations for damages as well. But had they not all turned their backs on that in the recent war? Both sides had talked of a just peace without annexations. Both had appealed to the rights of peoples to choose their own rulers, the Allies more loudly and persuasively than the Central Powers. And even before the United States had come into the war, terms such as democracy and justice had peppered Allied war aims. Wilson had taken hold of the Allied agenda and made it into a firm set of promises for a better world. True, he had allowed for some recompense for the victors: France to get its lost provinces of Alsace and Lorraine or Germany to make good the damage it had caused Belgium. The French wanted more, though: land from Germany possibly, guarantees of security against attack certainly. The British wanted certain German colonies. The Italians demanded part of the Balkans and the Japanese part of China. Could that be justified in terms of the new diplomacy? Then there were all the nations, some already formed but some still embryonic, in the centre of Europe, who demanded to be heard. And the colonial peoples, the campaigners for women’s rights, the labour representatives, the American blacks, the religious leaders, the humanitarians. The Congress of Vienna had been simple by comparison.


Both Clemenceau and Lloyd George in their first discussions with Wilson pointed out the need for the Allies to sort out their own position on the peace, in a preliminary conference. Wilson was unhelpful. If they settled all the peace terms in advance, then the general peace conference would be a sham. On the other hand, he was prepared to have informal conversations to work out a common Allied position. ‘It really came to the same thing,’ Lloyd George reported to his colleagues, ‘but the President insisted definitely on his point of view.’24 It was agreed that they would meet in Paris, have their preliminary discussions – a few weeks at the most – and then sit down with the enemy. Wilson, or so he thought, would probably go back to the United States at that point.25


After these first encounters with the men who were going to become his closest colleagues in Paris, Wilson continued on to Italy, to more ecstatic welcomes. But the cheers, the state receptions, the private audiences, could not conceal that time was passing. He began to wonder whether this was not deliberate. The people, he thought, wanted peace; their rulers seemed to be dragging their feet, for who knew what sinister motives. The French government tried to arrange a tour of the battlefields for him. He refused angrily. ‘They were trying to force him to go to see the devastated regions’, he told his small circle of intimates, ‘so that he might see red and play into the hands of the governments of England, France and Italy.’ He would not be manipulated like this; the peace must be made calmly and without emotion. ‘Even if France had been entirely made a shell hole it would not change the final settlement.’26 The French resented his refusal bitterly and were not appeased when he finally paid a fleeting visit in March.


Wilson was coming to the conclusion that he and the French were not as close in their views as House had encouraged him to believe. The French government had drawn up an elaborate agenda which placed the League of Nations well down the list of important issues to be decided.27 Paul Cambon, the immensely experienced French ambassador in London, told a British diplomat, ‘the business of the Peace Conference was to bring to a close the war with Germany.’ The League was something that could easily be postponed.28 Many in the French official establishment thought of a league that would be a continuation of the wartime alliance and whose main role would be to enforce the peace terms. No matter, said an internal memorandum, that much of the French public thought in more idealistic terms: ‘that can help us.’29 Clemenceau was publicly sceptical. The day after Wilson had made a speech in London reiterating his faith that a League of Nations was the best way to provide security for its members, Clemenceau had spoken in the Chamber of Deputies. To loud cheers he asserted: ‘There is an old system of alliances called the Balance of Power – this system of alliances, which I do not renounce, will be my guiding thought at the Peace Conference.’ Wickedly, he had referred to Wilson’s noble candeur, a word that could mean either candour or pathetic naïvety. (The official record transformed it into grandeur.) The American delegation saw Clemenceau’s speech as a challenge.30


In that speech and the American reaction to it were sown the seeds of what grew into a lurid and enduring tableau, especially in the United States. On the one hand, the Galahad, pure in thought and deed, lighting the way to a golden future; on the other, the misshapen French troll, his heart black with rage and spite, thinking only of revenge. On the one side peace, on the other war. It makes a good story and it is not fair to either man. Both were liberals with a conservative scepticism of rapid change. What divided them was temperament and their own experience. Wilson believed that human nature was fundamentally good. Clemenceau had his doubts. He, and Europe, had been through too much. ‘Please do not misunderstand me’, he once said to Wilson, ‘we too came into the world with the noble instincts and the lofty aspirations which you express so often and so eloquently. We have become what we are because we have been shaped by the rough hand of the world in which we have to live and we have survived only because we are a tough bunch.’ Wilson had lived in a world where democracy was safe. ‘I have lived in a world where it was good form to shoot a Democrat.’31 Where Wilson believed that the use of force ultimately failed, Clemenceau had seen it succeed too often. ‘I have come to the conclusion that force is right’, he said over lunch one day to Lloyd George’s mistress, Frances Stevenson. ‘Why is this chicken here? Because it was not strong enough to resist those who wanted to kill it. And a very good thing too!’32 Clemenceau was not opposed to the League; he simply did not put much trust in it. He would have liked to see greater international co-operation but recent history had shown all too clearly the importance of keeping the powder dry and the guns primed just in case.33 In this he faithfully reflected French public opinion, which remained overwhelmingly suspicious of Germany.34


By the second week of January 1919 Wilson was back in Paris waiting for the preliminary conference to start. He was living in great state in a private house provided by the French government. (One of Wilson’s little jokes was that the Americans were paying for it indirectly through their loans to France.) The Hôtel Murat was owned by descendants of the great soldier, who had married one of Napoleon’s sisters, and lent by them to the French government. Later, when relations soured between France and the United States, the Princesse Murat asked for it back again. The presidential party, which included Wilson’s personal physician, Admiral Cary T. Grayson, and Mrs Wilson’s social secretary, settled uneasily into the cold and gleaming rooms, filled with the treasures from the past reflected back endlessly in huge mirrors. A British journalist who came to interview the president found him in a grey flannel suit sitting at a magnificent empire desk with a great bronze eagle above his head.35


The rest of the American delegation was housed some distance away but also in considerable luxury at the Hôtel Crillon. ‘I was assigned an enormous room’, wrote an American professor to his wife, ‘high ceiling, white paneling, fireplace, enormous bathroom, very comfortable bed, all done in rich old rose.’36 The Americans were delighted with the food, impressed by the meticulous service and amused by the slow old hydraulic elevators, which sometimes hung suspended between floors until enough water had moved from one tank to another.37 Because the hotel itself was small, their offices were scattered near by, some in what had once been private dining-rooms at Maxim’s and which still smelt of stale wine and food. Over the months the Americans added their own touches to the Crillon: a barber shop, a network of private phone lines and a hearty American breakfast in place of the French one.38 And, of course, the guards at the doors and the sentries who paced back and forth on the flat roof. ‘The whole place is like an American battleship’, said Harold Nicolson, the young British diplomat who left one of the most vivid descriptions of the Peace Conference, ‘and smells odd.’39 British visitors were also struck by how seriously the Americans took rank; unlike the British, the important men never sat down to meals with their juniors.40


Lansing and his fellow plenipotentiaries White and Bliss had rooms on the second floor, but the true hub of power was on the floor above them, where House had his large suite of heavily guarded rooms – more, he smugly noticed, than anyone else. There he sat, as he loved to do, spinning his plans and drawing in the powerful. Prime ministers, generals, ambassadors, journalists, they almost all came by to see him. His most important relationship was always that with his president. The two men talked daily, either in person or on the direct private line the army engineers had installed. Sometimes Wilson strolled down to the Crillon; he never stopped on the second floor but always went directly upstairs.41
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Paris


PARIS WAS SAD and beautiful as the peacemakers began to assemble from all parts of the world in January 1919. Its people were subdued and mournful but its women were still extraordinarily elegant. ‘Again and again’, wrote a Canadian delegate to his wife, ‘one meets a figure which might have stepped out of La Vie Parisienne, or Vogue in its happier moments.’1 Those with money could still find wonderful clothes and jewels. The restaurants, when they could get supplies, were still marvellous. In the night-clubs couples tripped the new foxtrots and tangos. The weather was surprisingly mild. In the parks the grass was still green and a few flowers still bloomed. There had been a lot of rain and the Seine was in flood. Along the quais the crowds gathered to watch the rising waters, while the buskers sang of France’s great victory over Germany and of the new world that was coming.2


Signs of the Great War that had just ended were everywhere; the refugees from the devastated regions in the north; the captured German cannon in the Place de la Concorde and the Champs-Elysées; the piles of rubble and boarded-up windows where German bombs had fallen. A gaping crater marked the Tuileries rose garden. Along the Grands Boulevards the ranks of chestnuts had gaps where trees had been cut for firewood. The great windows in the cathedral of Notre-Dame were missing their stained glass, stored for safety; in their place, pale yellow panes washed the interior with a tepid light. There were severe shortages of coal, milk and bread.


French society bore scars too. While the flags of victory fluttered from the lampposts and windows, limbless men and demobilized soldiers in worn army uniforms begged for change on street corners and almost every other woman wore mourning. The left-wing press called for revolution, the right-wing for repression. Strikes and protests came one after the other. The streets that winter and spring were filled with demonstrations by men and women in the customary blue of French workers and with counter-demonstrations by the middle classes.


Neither the British nor the Americans had wanted the Peace Conference to be in Paris. As House confided to his diary, ‘It will be difficult enough at best to make a just peace, and it will be almost impossible to do so while sitting in the atmosphere of a belligerent capital. It might turn out well and yet again it might be a tragedy.’3 The French were too excitable, had suffered too much and were too bitter against the Germans to provide the calm atmosphere needed. Wilson had preferred Geneva until alarmist reports coming from Switzerland persuaded him that the country was on the verge of revolution and riddled with German spies.4 Clemenceau did not waver in his insistence on Paris.5 ‘I never’, said Lloyd George later on, when he was particularly annoyed, ‘wanted to hold the Conference in his bloody capital. Both House and I thought it would be better to hold it in a neutral place, but the old man wept and protested so much that we gave way.’6


It may have been only a legend that, when he died, Clemenceau asked to be buried upright, facing Germany. It was certainly true that he had been on guard against France’s great neighbour for most of his life. He was only twenty-eight when the Franco-Prussian War started, part of the group of young republicans who fought on in Paris after the French armies were defeated. He saw the city starve, the French government capitulate and the new German empire proclaimed in the Hall of Mirrors at Versailles. As a newly elected deputy, he voted against the peace terms with Germany. As a journalist, writer, politician and finally prime minister, he sounded the same warning: Germany was a menace to France. ‘My life hatred’, he told an American journalist shortly before he died, ‘has been for Germany because of what she has done to France.’7 He did not actively seek war after 1871; he simply accepted it as inevitable. The problem, he said, was not with France: ‘Germany believes that the logic of her victory means domination, while we do not believe that the logic of our defeat is serfdom.’8


To have a chance, Clemenceau had always recognized, France needed allies. Before 1914 the new Germany had been a formidable opponent, its industry, exports and wealth all growing. France’s were static and its birth-rate was declining. Today, when sheer numbers of soldiers matter less in battle, it is difficult to remember how important it was to be able to put huge armies into the field. As Clemenceau told the French Senate during the subsequent ratification debate, the treaty with Germany ‘does not specify that the French are committed to have many children, but that would have been the first thing to include’.9 Those disadvantages were why France had reached out to its hereditary enemies, tsarist Russia in the east and Britain across the Channel, Russian manpower and British industry and maritime power to balance against Germany. Much had changed by 1918, but not the underlying imbalance. There were still more Germans than French. How long would it take the German economy with its largely intact infrastructure to recover? And now France could not count on Russia.


During the Peace Conference France’s allies became exasperated with what they saw as French intransigence, French greed and French vindictiveness. They had not suffered what France had suffered. The war memorials, in every city, town and village, with their lists of names from the First World War, the handful from the Second, tell the story of France’s losses. A quarter of French men between eighteen and thirty had died in the war, over 1.3 million altogether out of a pre-war population of 40 million. France lost a higher proportion of its population than any other of the belligerents. Twice as many again of its soldiers had been wounded. In the north great stretches of land were pitted with shell holes, criss-crossed by trenches, marked with row upon row of crosses. Around the fortress of Verdun, site of the worst French battle, not a living thing grew, not a bird sang. The coal-mines on which the French economy depended for its power were flooded; the factories they would have supplied had been razed to the ground or carted away into Germany. Six thousand square miles of France, which before the war had produced 20% of its crops, 90% of its iron ore and 65% of its steel, were utterly ruined. Perhaps Wilson might have understood Clemenceau’s demands better if he had gone early on to see the damage for himself.10


At the Peace Conference Clemenceau was to keep all the important threads in his own hands. The French delegation drew on the best that France had to offer but it did not meet at all for the first four months of the conference.11 Much to their annoyance Clemenceau rarely consulted the foreign ministry professionals at the Quai d’Orsay.12 Nor did he pay much attention to the experts from the universities he had asked to draw up reports on France’s economic and territorial claims and to sit on the commissions and committees that proliferated at the Peace Conference. ‘No organization of his ideas, no method of work’, complained clever old Paul Cambon from London, ‘the accumulation in himself of all duties and all responsibilities, thus nothing works. And this man of 78 years, sick, for he is a diabetic … receives fifty people a day and exerts himself with a thousand details which he ought to leave to his ministers … At no moment in the war was I as uneasy as I am for the peace.’13


Stéphen Pichon, Clemenceau’s foreign minister, was an amiable, lazy and indecisive man who received his instructions every morning and would not have dreamed of disobeying.14 Clemenceau was rather fond of him in an offhand way. ‘Who is Pichon?’ he asked one day. ‘Your minister of Foreign Affairs’, came the reply. ‘So he is,’ said the old Tiger, ‘I had forgotten it.’15 On another occasion Pichon and a party of experts were waiting patiently in the background for a meeting to start when Clemenceau teased Balfour about the number of advisers he had. When Balfour replied, ‘They are doing the same thing as the greater number of people with you’, Clemenceau, infuriated to be caught out, turned around. ‘Go away all of you,’ he told Pichon. ‘There is no need for any of you!’16


If Clemenceau discussed issues at all, it was in the evening at his house, with a small group that included his faithful aide General Henri Mordacq, the brilliant gadfly André Tardieu and the industrialist Louis Loucheur. He kept them on their toes by having the police watch them. Each morning he would give them a dossier with details of their previous day’s activities.17 As much as possible he ignored Raymond Poincaré, whom he loathed.


Throughout his long life Clemenceau had gone his own formidable way. His enemies claimed that his slanting eyes and his cruelty were a legacy from Huns who had somehow made it to the Vendée.18 He was born in 1841, to minor gentry in a lovely part of France with a violent history. Generally, its people chose the wrong side; in the wars of religion, which the Catholics won, they were Protestants; during the French Revolution they were Catholic and royalist. The Clemenceau family was a minority within a minority; republican, radical and resolutely anti-clerical. Clemenceau himself thought snobs were fools, but he always went back to the gloomy family manor house, with its stone floors, its moat and its austere furnishings.


Like his father, Clemenceau trained as a doctor but, again like his father, he did not practise. His studies, in any case, always took second place to his writing, his political activities and his love affairs. Like other bright young men, he was drawn to Paris and the world of radical intellectuals, journalists and artists. In the late 1860s he spent much time in the United States, widely admired by republicans as a land of freedom. His travels left him with fluent English, peppered with out-of-date New York slang, in an accent that mingled a Yankee drawl with rolling French ‘r’s. He also gained a wife, Mary Plummer, a lovely, stupid and very conventional New England girl whom he had met while he was teaching French in a girls’ school.19 He brought her back to France and deposited her for long periods of time with his parents and unmarried aunts in the Vendée. The marriage did not last but Mary Plummer lived on in Paris, supplementing her modest annuity by taking American tourists to museums. She rarely saw Clemenceau after their separation but she faithfully collected his press cuttings. Unfortunately, she could not read them because she had never learned French. After her death in 1917 Clemenceau expressed mild regret: ‘What a tragedy that she ever married me.’20


The Clemenceau family kept the three children from the marriage. Clemenceau never married again. He preferred to travel through life alone. There were women, of course, as friends and as lovers. ‘Never in my life’, he said accurately, ‘has it been necessary for me to make appeals to women.’21 In 1919 he complained sardonically that, just when he was too old to take advantage of it, women were throwing themselves at him.


Politics and, above all, France were his great passion. With the collapse of the empire of Napoleon III in 1870 and the rise of the Third Republic, the way was open to him and other radical politicians to participate in public life. Clemenceau made a name for himself as an incisive and witty orator and a tenacious opponent. With his old friend Emile Zola, for example, he helped to reopen the question of the sentencing of Alfred Dreyfus. He was not trusted though, even on the left; there were too many dubious financiers in his life, women with shady reputations, creditors asking for their money.22 In his relentless attacks on authority he was prepared to do almost anything to win. ‘He comes from a family of wolves’, said a man who knew him well.23 His duels left an impression of someone who belonged in the pages of Dumas. Clemenceau did not help himself by his contempt for convention and his profound cynicism. Lloyd George once said of him, ‘he loved France but hated all Frenchmen’.24 It was only in 1906, when he was already in his sixties, that he became a government minister.


His intimates saw another side. Clemenceau was loyal to his friends and they to him. He was kind and generous with both time and money. He loved his garden, although according to one visitor, ‘it was a helter-skelter survival of mixed-up seeds hurled about recklessly in all directions.’25 For years Clemenceau had a country place close to Giverny and Claude Monet, a great friend. In Paris he frequently dropped in to see the great panels of the Water Lilies: ‘They take my breath away whenever I enter that room.’ (He could not bear Renoir’s painting: ‘It’s enough to disgust you with love forever after. Those buttocks he gives those wenches ought not to be allowed.’26)


Clemenceau was also extraordinarily brave and stubborn. When the Germans advanced on Paris in 1914, the French parliament debated leaving. Clemenceau agreed: ‘Yes, we are too far from the front.’27 In the dark days of 1917, when the French armies had been shattered on the western front and there was talk of collapse at home, Clemenceau, the Father of Victory, finally came into his own. As prime minister he held France together until the final victory. When the Germans made their last great push towards Paris in the spring of 1918, Clemenceau made it clear that there would be no surrender. If the Germans took the city, he intended to stay until the last moment and then escape by plane.28 When he heard that the Germans had agreed to an armistice, for once in his life he was speechless. He put his head in hands and wept.29 On the evening of 11 November he walked through Paris with his favourite sister, Sophie. ‘The war is won,’ he said when he saw the crowds starting to pull captured German guns to pieces. ‘Give them to the children to play with.’30 Later, with Mordacq, he talked of the work to come: ‘Yes, we have won the war and not without difficulty; but now we are going to have to win the peace, and that will perhaps be even more difficult.’31


France, of all the Great Powers, had the most at stake in the German peace terms. Britain already had most of what it wanted, with the German fleet and the major German colonies safely in its hands, and the United States was separated from Germany by the Atlantic Ocean. France not only had suffered the most; it also had the most to fear. Whatever happened, Germany would still lie along its eastern border. There would still be more Germans than French in the world. It was an ominous sign that the even the souvenir penknives engraved with Foch and La Victoire being sold in France in 1919 had been made in German factories. France wanted revenge and compensation but above all it wanted security. No one was more aware of this than its prime minister.


Clemenceau was convinced that the only safety for France was in keeping the wartime alliance alive. As he told the Chamber of Deputies in December 1918, ‘to preserve this entente, I will make any sacrifice.’32 During the Peace Conference he held firm to that, even through the worst disagreements. The French public must remember, he told his closest advisers, that ‘without America and England, France would perhaps no longer actually exist.’33 As he remarked to Lloyd George, when the two were engaged in one of their many quarrels, ‘my policy at the conference, as I hope you will acknowledge, is one of close agreement with Great Britain and America.’34


Clemenceau’s policy was one thing; persuading the rank and file of French officials to follow it was another. ‘I find them full of intrigue and chicanery of all kinds,’ complained Hankey, the British secretary to the conference, ‘without any idea of playing the game.’35 Memories of past greatness, a conviction of the superiority of French civilization, resentment of Anglo-Saxon prosperity, relief at their victory, fears of Germany did not make the French easy to deal with. ‘One could not help feeling,’ wrote a British expert when he visited the French occupation forces in the Rhineland, ‘that in a moment all that has happened in the last fifty years was wiped away; the French soldiers were back again in the place where they used to be under the Monarchy and the Revolution; confident, debonair, quick, feeling themselves completely at home in their historical task of bringing a higher civilization to the Germans.’36 The Americans, like the British, found the French intensely irritating at times. ‘Fundamental trouble with France’, wrote an American expert in his diary, ‘is that as far as she was concerned the victory was wholly fictitious and she is trying to act as if it were a real one and to make herself believe that it was.’37 American officers clashed repeatedly with their French counterparts and the ordinary soldiers brawled in the streets and cafés.38


It was unfortunate, perhaps, that Clemenceau himself did not establish good personal relations with the leader of either country. Where Wilson and Lloyd George frequently dropped in on each other and met over small lunches or dinners during the Peace Conference, Clemenceau preferred to eat alone or with his small circle of advisers. ‘That has its disadvantages’, said Lloyd George. ‘If you meet for social purposes, you can raise a point. If you find that you are progressing satisfactorily, you can proceed, otherwise you can drop it.’39 Clemenceau had never cared for ordinary social life at the best of times. In Paris in 1919 he saved his flagging energies for the negotiations.


Clemenceau was the oldest of the three and, although he was robust for his age, the strain told. The eczema on his hands was so bad that he wore gloves to hide it. He also had trouble sleeping.40 He woke up very early, often at three, and read until seven, when he made himself a simple breakfast of gruel. He then worked again until his masseur and trainer arrived for his physical exercises (which usually included his favourite fencing). He spent the morning in meetings but almost always went home for his standard lunch of boiled eggs and a glass of water, worked again all afternoon, and after an equally simple supper of milk and bread, went to bed by nine. His servants came from the Vendée and had been with him for years.41 Very occasionally, he took tea at Lloyd George’s flat in the Rue Nitot, where the cook baked his favourite langues de chat.42


Clemenceau did not much like either Wilson or Lloyd George. ‘I find myself ’, he said in a phrase that went round Paris, ‘between Jesus Christ on the one hand, and Napoleon Bonaparte on the other.’43 He found Wilson puzzling: ‘I do not think he is a bad man, but I have not yet made up my mind as to how much of him is good!’44 He also found him priggish and arrogant. ‘What ignorance of Europe and how difficult all understandings were with him! He believed you could do everything by formulas and his fourteen points. God himself was content with ten commandments. Wilson modestly inflicted fourteen points on us … the fourteen commandments of the most empty theory!’45


Lloyd George, as far as Clemenceau was concerned, was more amusing but also more devious and untrustworthy. In the long and acrimonious negotiations over control of the Middle East between Britain and France, Clemenceau was driven into rages at what he saw, rightly, as Lloyd George’s attempts to wriggle out of their agreements. The two men shared certain traits – both had started out as radicals in politics, both were ruthlessly efficient – but there were equally significant differences. Clemenceau was an intellectual, Lloyd George was not. Clemenceau was rational, Lloyd George intuitive. Clemenceau had the tastes and values of an eighteenth-century gentleman; Lloyd George was resolutely middle-class.


Clemenceau also had problems with his own colleagues, including France’s president. ‘There are only two perfectly useless things in the world. One is an appendix and the other is Poincaré!’46 A small, dapper man, the president was fussy, legalistic, pedantic, very cautious and very Catholic. ‘A lively little beast, dry, disagreeable, and not courageous’, Clemenceau told an American friend. ‘This prudence has preserved it up to the present day – a somewhat unpleasant animal, as you see, of which, luckily, only one specimen is known.’47 Clemenceau had been attacking Poincaré for years.48 He spread scandal about Poincaré’s wife. ‘You wish to sleep with Madame Poincaré?’ he would shout out. ‘OK, my friend, it’s fixed.’49 During the war Clemenceau’s papers criticized the president, most unfairly, for the conduct of the war. As Poincaré rightly said, ‘he knows very well that he is not telling the truth, that the constitution leaves me no rights.’50


Poincaré returned the hatred. ‘Madman,’ he wrote in his diary. ‘Old, moronic, vain man.’51 But on crucial issues, curiously, he and Clemenceau agreed. Both detested and feared Germany. Poincaré had also fought against the defeatists during the darkest period of the war and had indeed brought Clemenceau in as prime minister because he recognized his will to defeat Germany. For a brief period there had been something of a truce. ‘Now, Raymond old chum,’ asked Clemenceau before his first cabinet meeting in November 1917, ‘are we going to fall in love?’ Six months later Poincaré was complaining bitterly that Clemenceau was not consulting him.52 After the victory the two men embraced in public in Metz, capital of the recovered province of Lorraine, but their relations remained difficult. Poincaré was full of complaints about Clemenceau’s conduct of affairs. The armistice had come too soon: French troops should have pushed further into Germany. France was being heavy-handed in the recovered provinces of Alsace and Lorraine. As a native of Lorraine, Poincaré still had many contacts there, who warned him that many of the inhabitants were pro-German and that the French authorities were handling them tactlessly. Clemenceau was neglecting France’s financial problems. He was also making a mess of foreign policy, giving away far too much to the British and the Americans. Poincaré was infuriated when Clemenceau conceded that English would be an official language at the Peace Conference alongside French.53 He was maddened by the popular adulation of Clemenceau. ‘All Frenchmen believe in him like a new god’, he wrote. ‘And me, I am insulted in the popular press … I am hardly talked about other than to be insulted.’54


To the dismay of Poincaré and the powerful colonial lobby Clemenceau cared little about acquiring Germany’s colonies, and was not much interested in the Middle East.55 His few brief remarks about war aims before the conference opened were deliberately vague, enough to reassure the French public but not to tie him down to any rigid set of demands. Official statements during the war had referred merely to the liberation of Belgium and occupied French territories, freedom for oppressed peoples and, inevitably, Alsace-Lorraine. His job, as Clemenceau told the Chamber of Deputies, was to make war. As for peace, he told a journalist, ‘Is it necessary to announce ahead of time all that one wants to do? No!’56 On 29 December 1918 Clemenceau was pressed by his critics in the Chamber to be more precise. He refused. ‘The question of the peace is an enormous one.’ The negotiations were going to be tricky. ‘I am going to have to make claims, but I will not say here what they are.’ He might well have to sacrifice some in the greater interest of France. He asked for a vote of confidence. It went 398 to 93 in his favour.57 His main challenge now was his allies.
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Lloyd George and the British Empire Delegation


ON 11 JANUARY David Lloyd George, the British prime minister, bounded with his usual energy on to a British destroyer for the Channel crossing. With his arrival in Paris the three key peacemakers, on whom so much depended, were finally in one place. Although he was still feeling his way with Wilson, Lloyd George had known Clemenceau on and off since 1908. Their first meeting, with Clemenceau already the established politician and Lloyd George merely a promising young man, was not a success. Clemenceau found Lloyd George shockingly ignorant, both of Europe and of the United States.1 Lloyd George’s impression was of a ‘disagreeable and rather bad-tempered old savage’. He noticed, he said, that in Clemenceau’s large head ‘there was no dome of benevolence, reverence, or kindliness’.2 When Lloyd George had to deal with him during the war, he made it clear that there was to be no more bullying. In time, he claimed, he came to appreciate Clemenceau immensely for his wit, his strength of character and his passionate devotion to France. Clemenceau for his part developed a grudging liking for Lloyd George, although he always complained that he was badly educated. He was not, said the old Frenchman severely, ‘an English gentleman’.3


Each of the Big Three at the Peace Conference brought something of his own country to the negotiations: Wilson, the United States’ benevolence, a confident assurance that the American way was the best, and an uneasy suspicion that the Europeans might fail to see this; Clemenceau, France’s profound patriotism, its relief at the victory and its perpetual apprehension of a revived Germany; and Lloyd George, Britain’s vast web of colonies and its mighty navy. Each man represented great interests but each was also an individual. Their failings and their strengths, their fatigue and their illnesses, their likes and dislikes were also to shape the peace settlements. From January to the end of June, except for the gap between mid-February and mid-March when Wilson was back in the United States and Lloyd George in Britain, the three met daily, often morning and afternoon. At first they were accompanied by their foreign ministers and advisers, but after March they met privately, with only a secretary or two or an occasional expert. The intensity of these face-to-face meetings forced them to get to know each other, to like each other and to be irritated by each other.


Lloyd George was the youngest of the three, a cheerful rosy-faced man with startling blue eyes and a shock of white hair. (‘Hullo!’, a little girl once asked him, ‘Are you Charlie Chaplin?’4) He was only two when the American Civil War, something Wilson remembered clearly, ended. When a twenty-year-old Clemenceau was witnessing the birth of the new Germany in the aftermath of France’s defeat by Prussia, Lloyd George was still in primary school. He was not only younger; he was fitter and more resilient. Wilson worried himself sick trying to live up to his own principles and Clemenceau lay awake at nights going over and over France’s needs. Lloyd George thrived on challenges and crises. As Lord Robert Cecil, an austere Conservative who never entirely approved of him, said with reluctant admiration, ‘Whatever was going on at the Conference, however hard at work and harried by the gravest responsibilities of his position, Mr. Lloyd George was certain to be at the top of his form – full of chaff intermingled with shrewd though never ill-natured comments on those with whom he was working.’5


Lloyd George had known tragedy with the death of a much-loved daughter, as well as moments of considerable strain when personal scandals and political controversies had threatened to ruin his career. He had worked under enormous pressure during the previous four years, first as minister of munitions and then as war minister. At the end of 1916 he had taken on the burden of the prime ministership, at the head of a coalition government, when it looked as though the Allies were finished. Like Clemenceau in France, he had held the country together and led it to victory. Now in 1919 he was fresh from a triumphant election but the coalition majority he possessed was not really his. He was a Liberal; his supporters and key cabinet members were predominantly Conservative. Although he had a solid partnership with the Conservative leader, Bonar Law, he had to watch his back. His displaced rival, the former Liberal prime minister Herbert Asquith, sat brooding in his tent, ready to pounce on any slip. Many of the Conservatives remembered his radical past as the scourge of privilege and rank, and, as they had with their own leader Disraeli, they wondered if Lloyd George were not too clever, too quick, too foreign. Lloyd George also faced formidable enemies in the press. The press baron Lord Northcliffe, who had chosen his title because it had the same initial letter as Napoleon, was moving rapidly from megalomania to paranoia, perhaps an early sign of the tertiary syphilis that was to kill him. He had been convinced that he had made Lloyd George prime minister by putting his papers, which included The Times and the Daily Mail, behind him; now he was angry when the man he thought his creation refused to appoint him either to the War Cabinet or to the British delegation in Paris.


Lloyd George also had to deal with a country ill prepared for the peace, where the end of the war had brought huge, and irrational, expectations: that making peace would be easy; that wages and benefits would go up and taxes down; that there would be social harmony, or, depending on your point of view, social upheaval. The public mood was unpredictable: at moments vengeful, at others escapist. The most popular book of 1919 was The Young Visiters, a comic novel written by a child. While he was in Paris, Lloyd George had to take time out for labour unrest, parliamentary revolts and the festering sore of Ireland. Yet he entered into the negotiations in Paris as though he had little else on his mind.


If anyone was like Napoleon it was not the poor deluded Northcliffe but the man he hated. Napoleon once said of himself, ‘different subjects and different affairs are arranged in my head as in a cupboard. When I wish to interrupt one train of thought, I shut that drawer and open another. Do I wish to sleep? I simply close all the drawers and there I am – asleep.’ Lloyd George had those powers of concentration and recuperation, that energy and that fondness for the attack. ‘The Englishman’, he told a Welsh friend, ‘never respects any fellow unless that fellow beats him; then he becomes particularly affable towards him.’6


Like Napoleon, Lloyd George had an uncanny ability to sense what other people were thinking. He told Frances Stevenson that he loved staying in hotels: ‘I am always interested in people – wondering who they are – what they are thinking about – what their lives are like – whether they are enjoying life or finding it a bore.’7 Although he was a wonderful conversationalist, he was also a very good listener. From the powerful to the humble, adults to children, everyone who met him was made to feel that he or she had something important to say. ‘One of the most admirable traits in Mr. Lloyd George’s character’, in Churchill’s view, ‘was his complete freedom at the height of his power, responsibility and good fortune from any thing in the nature of pomposity or superior airs. He was always natural and simple. He was always exactly the same to those who knew him well: ready to argue any point, to listen to disagreeable facts even when controversially presented.’8 His famous charm was rooted in this combination of curiosity and attention.


Lloyd George was also a great orator. Where Clemenceau drove home his points with devastating clarity and sarcasm, and Wilson preached, Lloyd George’s speeches, which he prepared so carefully and which sounded so spontaneous, were at once moving and witty, inspiring and intimate. Like a great actor, he was a skilful manipulator of his audience. ‘I pause,’ he once told someone who asked him about his technique, ‘I reach out my hand to the people and draw them to me. Like children they seem then. Like little children.’9


John Maynard Keynes, who did so much to create myths about the Peace Conference, wove a special one for Lloyd George. ‘How can I convey to the reader’, the great economist asked, ‘any just impression of this extraordinary figure of our time, this syren, this goat-footed bard, this half-human visitor to our age from the hag-ridden magic and enchanted woods of Celtic antiquity?’10 There spoke the voice both of intellectually superior Cambridge and of stolid John Bull, but it spoke romantic nonsense. The real Wales in which Lloyd George grew up was a modest, sober little land, with slate mines and shipbuilding, fishermen and farmers, whose people sang better than the English.


Lloyd George liked to talk of his origins in a humble cottage, but in fact he came from the educated artisan class. His father, who died when he was very young, was a schoolmaster; the uncle who brought him up was a master cobbler and lay preacher, a figure of stature in his small village. Wales was always important to Lloyd George, as a reference point, if only to measure how far he had come, and also for sentimental reasons (although he grew quickly bored if he had to spend too much time there). He had early on seen himself on a larger stage. And what larger stage than the capital of the world’s biggest empire? As he wrote to the local girl who became his wife, ‘my supreme idea is to get on.’11


He was fortunate in his uncle, who gave him unstinting devotion and support. When Lloyd George, as a boy, discovered that he had lost his belief in God, the lay preacher forgave him.12 When he decided to go into the law, his uncle worked through a French grammar one step ahead of him so that he could get the language qualification that he required. And when he decided to go into politics, a huge gamble for someone without money or connections, his uncle again supported him. The old man lived just long enough to see his nephew become prime minister.


Lloyd George was made for politics. From the hard work in the committee rooms to the great campaigns, he loved it all. While he enjoyed the cut and thrust of debate, he was essentially good-natured. Unlike Wilson and Clemenceau, he did not hate his opponents. Nor was he an intellectual in politics. Although he read widely, he preferred to pick the brains of experts. On his feet there was no one quicker. He invariably conveyed a mastery of his subject. Once during the Peace Conference Keynes and a colleague realized that they had given him the wrong briefing on the Adriatic. They hastily put a revised position on a sheet of paper and rushed to the meeting, where they found Lloyd George already launched on his subject. As Keynes passed over the paper, Lloyd George glanced at it and, without a pause, gradually modified his arguments until he ended up with the opposite position to the one he had started out with.13


Early on, he made his mark as a leading radical politician. Where Wilson attacked the big banks, however, and Clemenceau attacked the church, Lloyd George’s favourite targets were the landowners and aristocracy. Lloyd George rather liked businessmen, especially self-made ones. (He also frequently liked their wives.) As chancellor of the exchequer, he pushed through radical budgets, introducing an income tax for the rich along with benefits for the poor, but he was not a socialist. Like Wilson and Clemenceau, he disliked collectivism, but he was always prepared to work with moderate socialists just as he was prepared to work with Conservatives.14


He also became a superb, if unconventional, administrator. He shook established procedures by bringing in talented and skilled men from outside the civil service to run government departments. He ensured the success of his bills by inviting all the interested parties to comment on them. He settled labour disputes by inviting both sides to sit down with him, normal enough procedure today but highly unusual then. ‘He plays upon men round a table like the chords of a musical instrument’, said a witness to his settlement of a railway dispute, ‘now pleading, now persuasive, stern, playful and minatory in quick succession.’15


Naturally optimistic, he was always sure that solutions could be found to even the most difficult problems. ‘To Lloyd George’, said a friend of his children, ‘every morning was not a new day, but a new life and a new chance.’16 Sometimes the chances he took were risky, and he engaged in some dubious transactions – a mine in Argentina or the purchase of shares where he had inside knowledge – but he seems to have been motivated more by the desire for financial independence than by greed. He was equally careless in his private life. Where Clemenceau’s affairs with women enhanced his reputation, Lloyd George came close to disaster on more than one occasion when angry husbands threatened to name him in divorce actions. His wife, a strong-willed woman, stuck by him but the couple grew apart. She preferred to stay in north Wales with her beloved garden; he got used to a part-time marriage. By 1919 he had settled down, as much as was in his nature, with a single mistress, a younger woman who had originally come into his household to tutor his youngest daughter. Frances Stevenson was an educated, efficient and intelligent woman who gave him love, intellectual companionship and a well-run office.


People often wrote Lloyd George off as a mere opportunist. Clemenceau once dismissed him as an English solicitor: ‘All arguments are good to him when he wishes to win a case and, if it is necessary, he uses the next day arguments which he had rejected or refuted the previous day.’17 Wilson, sharp-eyed where the failings of others were concerned, thought Lloyd George lacked principle. ‘He wished that he had a less slippery customer to deal with than L.G. for he is always temporizing and making concessions.’18 Lloyd George was in fact a man of principle but he was also intensely pragmatic.19 He did not waste his energies on quixotic crusades. He opposed the Boer War, when Britain waged war on the small South African republics, because he thought it was wrong and wasteful. His tenacious public opposition took courage and nearly cost him his life when an angry mob in Birmingham stormed the platform where he was speaking. But it paid off politically. As the British government blundered its way through to a hard-won peace, Lloyd George emerged as a national leader.


When the Great War broke out, it was inevitable that he would play an important part in the British war effort. As Churchill, an increasingly close friend, wrote: ‘L.G. has more true insight and courage than anyone else. He really sticks at nothing – no measure too far-reaching, no expedient too novel.’20 He hated war, Lloyd George told a Labour delegation in 1916, but ‘once you are in it you have to go grimly through it, otherwise the causes which hang upon a successful issue will perish.’21 The wise old Conservative Arthur Balfour had seen leaders come and go. ‘He is impulsive,’ he said of Lloyd George, ‘he had never given a thought before the War to military matters; he does not perhaps adequately gauge the depths of his own ignorance; and he has certain peculiarities which no doubt make him, now and then, difficult to work with.’ But there was no one else, in Balfour’s opinion, who could successfully lead Britain.22


Although Lloyd George had come a long way from the small village, he never became part of the English upper classes. During his tenure visitors to 10 Downing Street felt that they were in a household transplanted from a prosperous seaside town in north Wales.23 Neither he nor his wife liked visiting the great country houses and Lloyd George positively disliked staying with the king and queen. When George V, as a mark of honour, invited him to carry the sword of state at the opening of Parliament, Lloyd George privately said ‘I won’t be a flunkey’ and begged off.24 Most of Lloyd George’s friends were, like him, self-made men. Balfour, who was a Cecil, from an old and famous family, was a rare exception.25 And Balfour, with his affable willingness to take second place, suited Lloyd George very well as a foreign minister.


Lloyd George was determined to run the peace his way. He ignored the Foreign Office wherever he could and used his own staff of bright young men. The bureaucrats particularly resented his private secretary, the high-minded, religious and arrogant Philip Kerr. Because Lloyd George hated reading memoranda, Kerr, who dealt with much of his correspondence, was the gatekeeper to the great man.26 Even Balfour was moved to mild reproof when he asked Kerr whether the prime minister had read a particular document and was told no, but that Kerr had. ‘Not quite the same thing, is it, Philip – yet?’27 The professional diplomats muttered among themselves and Lord Curzon, who had been left behind in London to mind the shop while Balfour and Lloyd George were in Paris, was pained. Lloyd George paid no attention.


Was this a bad thing for Britain? He clearly did not have the grasp of foreign affairs of his predecessor Lord Salisbury, or his later successor Churchill. His knowledge had great gaps. ‘Who are the Slovaks?’ he asked in 1916. ‘I can’t seem to place them.’28 His geography was equally sketchy. How interesting, he told a subordinate in 1918, to discover that New Zealand was on the east side of Australia. In 1919, when Turkish forces were retreating eastwards from the Mediterranean, Lloyd George talked dramatically of their flight towards Mecca. ‘Ankara’, said Curzon severely. Lloyd George replied airily, ‘Lord Curzon is good enough to admonish me on a triviality.’29 Yet he often came to sensible conclusions (even if his disdain for the professionals and his own enthusiasms also led him into mistakes, such as support for a restored Greater Greece). Germany, he told a friend in the middle of the war, must be beaten, but not destroyed.30 That would not do either Europe or the British empire any good, and would leave the field clear for a strong Russia. He understood where Britain’s interests lay: its trade and its empire, with naval dominance to protect them and a balance of power in Europe to prevent any power from challenging those interests.


He recognized that Britain could no longer try to achieve these goals on its own. Its military power, though great, was shrinking rapidly as the country moved back to a peacetime footing. During 1919 the size of the army was to drop by two-thirds at a time when Britain was taking on more and more responsibilities – from the Baltic states to Russia to Afghanistan – and dealing with more and more trouble in its empire – India, Egypt and, on its own doorstep, Ireland. ‘There are no troops to spare’, came the despairing answer from the general staff to repeated requests.31 The burden of power was also weighing heavily in economic terms. Britain was no longer the world’s financial centre; the United States was. And Britain owed huge amounts to the Americans, as Lloyd George was well aware. With his usual optimism he felt that he could build a good relationship with the United States which would help to compensate for British weaknesses. Perhaps the Americans would take on responsibility for such strategically important areas as the straits at Constantinople.


On the other hand, Lloyd George went into the Peace Conference with a relatively good hand, certainly a better one than either the French or the Italians. Britain had already got much of what it wanted. The German fleet, which had challenged British power around the world, was safely in British hands, the surface ships in Scapa Flow and most of the submarines in Harwich. Its coaling stations, harbours and telegraph stations had been taken by Japan or the British empire. ‘If you had told the British people twelve months ago’, Lloyd George said in Paris, ‘that they would have secured what they have, they would have laughed you to scorn. The German Navy has been handed over; the German mercantile shipping has been handed over, and the German colonies have been given up. One of our chief trade competitors has been most seriously crippled and our Allies are about to become her biggest creditors. That is no small achievement.’


There was more: ‘We have destroyed the menace to our Indian possessions.’32 Russia, whose southward push throughout the nineteenth century had so worried generations of British statesmen, was finished as a power, at least in the short run, and all along its southern boundaries, in Persia and the Caucasus, were British forces and British influence.


Communications with India were more secure than ever. So much of pre-war British policy had been devoted to protecting the routes across the Mediterranean, the Suez Canal and down the Red Sea, either by taking direct control, as in the case of Egypt, or by propping up the shaky old Ottoman empire. That empire was finished but, thanks to a secret agreement with France, Britain was poised to take the choice bits it wanted. There were new routes, at least in the dreams of the Foreign Office and the military, perhaps across the Black Sea to the Caucasus and then south, or by air via Greece and Mesopotamia, but these too could be protected if Britain moved quickly enough to seize the territory it needed.


People have often assumed that, because Lloyd George opposed the Boer War, he was not an imperialist. On the contrary, he had always taken great pride in the empire but he had never thought it was being run properly. It was folly to try to manage everything from London, and expensive folly at that. What would keep the empire strong was to allow as much local self-government as possible and have an imperial policy only on the important issues, such as defence and a common foreign policy. With home rule – and he was thinking of Scotland, his own Wales and the perennially troublesome Ireland as well – parts of the empire would willingly take on the costs of looking after themselves. (‘Home Rule for Hell’ cried a heckler at one of his speeches. ‘Quite right’, retorted Lloyd George, ‘let every man speak up for his own country.’) The dominions – Australia, Canada, New Zealand, Newfoundland and South Africa – were already partly self-governing. Even India was moving slowly to self-government but with its mix of races, which included only the merest handful of Europeans, and its many religions and languages, Lloyd George doubted it would ever be able to manage on its own. He never visited India and knew very little about it but, in the offhand way of his times, he considered Indians, along with other brown-skinned peoples, to be inferior.33


In 1916, shortly after he became prime minister, Lloyd George told the House of Commons that the time had come to consult formally with the dominions and India about the best way to win the war. He intended, therefore, to create an Imperial War Cabinet.34 It was a wonderful gesture. It was also necessary. The dominions and India were keeping the British war effort going with their raw materials, their munitions, their loans, above all with their manpower – some 1,250,000 soldiers from India and another million from the dominions. Australia, as Billy Hughes, its prime minister, never tired of reminding everyone, had lost more soldiers by 1918 than the United States.


By 1916 the dominions, which had once tiptoed reverentially around the mother country, were growing up. They and their generals had seen too much of what Sir Robert Borden, the Canadian prime minister, called the ‘incompetence and blundering stupidity of the whiskey and soda British H.Q. Staff’.35 The dominions knew how important their contribution was, what they had spent in blood. In return, they now expected to be consulted, both on the war and on the peace to follow.36 They found a receptive audience in Britain, where what had been in pre-war days a patronizing contempt for the crudeness of colonials had turned into enthusiasm for their vigour. Billy Hughes became something of a fad when he visited London in 1916; women marched with signs saying ‘We want Hughes Back’ and a popular cartoon showed the Billiwog: ‘No War is Complete Without One’.37 And then there was Jan Smuts, South Africa’s foreign minister, soldier, statesmen and, to some, seer, who spent much of the later part of the war in London. Smuts had fought against the British fifteen years previously; now he was one of their most trusted advisers, sitting on the small committee of the British cabinet which Lloyd George set up to run the war. He was widely admired; ‘Of his practical contribution to our counsels during these trying years’, said Lloyd George, ‘it is difficult to speak too highly.’38


In the last days of the war Hughes of Australia and Borden of Canada were infuriated to discover that the British War Cabinet had authorized Lloyd George and Balfour to go to the Supreme War Council in Paris to settle the German armistice terms with the Allies without bothering to inform the dominions. Hughes also strongly objected to Wilson’s Fourteen Points being accepted as the basis for peace negotiations, ‘a painful and serious breach of faith’.39 The dominion leaders were most annoyed when they discovered that the British had assumed that they would tag along to the Peace Conference as part of the British delegation. Lloyd George attempted to mollify them by suggesting that a dominion prime minister could be one of the five British plenipotentiaries. But which one? As Hankey said, ‘the dominions are as jealous of each other as cats.’40 The real problem over representation, as Borden wrote to his wife, was that the dominions’ position had never been properly sorted out. Canada was ‘a nation that is not a nation. It is about time to alter it.’ And he noted, with a certain tone of pity, ‘The British Ministers are doing their best, but their best is not good enough.’41 To Hankey he said that, if Canada did not have full representation at the conference there was nothing for it but for him ‘to pack his trunks, return to Canada, summon Parliament, and put the whole thing before them.’42


Lloyd George gave way: not only would one of the five main British delegates be chosen from the empire, but he would tell his allies that the dominions and India required separate representation at the Peace Conference. It was one of the first issues he raised when he arrived in Paris on 12 January 1919. The Americans and the French were cool, seeing only British puppets – and extra British votes. When Lloyd George extracted a grudging offer that the dominions and India might have one delegate each, the same as Siam and Portugal, that only produced fresh cries of outrage from his empire colleagues. After all their sacrifices, they said, it was intolerable that they should be treated as minor powers. A reluctant Lloyd George persuaded Clemenceau and Wilson to allow Canada, Australia, South Africa and India to have two plenipotentiaries each and New Zealand one.43


The British were taken aback by the new assertiveness in their empire. ‘It was very inconvenient’, said one diplomat. ‘What was the Foreign Office to do?’44 Lloyd George, who had been for home rule in principle, discovered that the reality could be awkward, when, for example, Hughes said openly in the Supreme Council that Australia might not go to war the next time Britain did. (The remark was subsequently edited out of the minutes but South Africa raised the question again.45) Britain’s allies watched this with a certain amount of satisfaction.46 They might be able to use the dominions against the British, the French realized with pleasure, when it came to drawing up the German peace terms.47 House took an even longer-term view: separate representation for the dominions and India in the Peace Conference and on new international bodies such as the League of Nations and the International Labour Organization could only hurry along ‘the eventual disintegration of the British Empire.’ Britain would end up back where it started, with only its own islands.48


It was a British empire delegation (and the name was a victory in itself for the fractious dominions) that Lloyd George led to Paris. With well over 400 officials, special advisers, clerks and typists, it occupied five hotels near the Arc de Triomphe. The largest, and the social centre, was the Hôtel Majestic, in pre-war days a favourite with rich Brazilian women on clothes-buying trips. To protect against spies (French rather than German), the British authorities replaced all the Majestic’s staff, even the chefs, with imports from British hotels in the midlands. The food became that of a respectable railway hotel: porridge and eggs and bacon in the mornings, lots of meat and vegetables at lunch and dinner and bad coffee all day. The sacrifice was pointless, Nicolson and his colleagues grumbled, because all their offices, full of confidential papers, were in the Hôtel Astoria, where the staff was still French.49


Security was something of an obsession with the British. Their letters to and from London went by a special service that by-passed the French post office. Detectives from Scotland Yard guarded the front door at the Majestic and members of the delegation had to wear passes with their photographs. They were urged to tear up the contents of their waste-paper baskets into tiny pieces; it was well known that, at the Congress of Vienna, Prince Talleyrand, the French foreign minister, had negotiated so successfully because his agents assiduously collected discarded notes from the other delegations. Wives were allowed to take meals in the Majestic but not to stay, yet another legacy of the Congress of Vienna, where, according to official memory, they had been responsible for secrets leaking out.50


Lloyd George chose to stay in a luxurious flat in the Rue Nitot, an alleyway that had once been the haunt of ragpickers. Decorated with wonderful eighteenth-century English paintings – Gainsboroughs, Hoppners and Lawrences – it had been lent him by a rich English woman.51 With him he had Philip Kerr and Frances Stevenson, as well as his youngest daughter and favourite child, the sixteen-year-old Megan. Frances was her chaperon, or perhaps it was the other way around. Balfour lived one floor above and in the evenings had the sounds of Lloyd George’s favourite Welsh hymns and black spirituals drifting up.


At the Majestic each inhabitant was given a book of house rules. Meals were at set hours. Drinks had to be paid for unless, and this was a matter of bitter comment, you came from one of the dominions or India, in which case the British government footed the bill. Coupons were available but cash was also accepted. There was to be no running up of accounts. Members of the delegation were not to cook in their rooms or damage the furniture. They must not keep dogs. A doctor (a distinguished obstetrician, according to Nicolson) and three nurses were on duty in the sick bay. A billiard room and a jardin d’hiver were available in the basement for recreation. So were a couple of cars, which could be booked ahead. There was a warning here: windows had already been broken ‘through violent slamming of doors’. There was another warning too: ‘All members of the Delegation should bear in mind that telephone conversations will be overheard by unauthorised persons.’52


‘Very like coming to school for the first time’, was the opinion of one new arrival. ‘Hanging about in the hall, being looked at by those already arrived as “new kids”, picking out our baggage, noting times for meals, etc., to-morrow – very amusing.’53 If the British were the masters and the matrons, the Canadians were the senior prefects, a little bit serious perhaps, but reliable, the South Africans were the new boys, good at games and much admired for their sporting instincts, the Australians the cheeky ones, always ready to break bounds, the New Zealanders and Newfoundlanders the lower forms, and then, of course, the Indians, nice chaps in spite of the colour of their skin, but whose parents were threatening to pull them out and send them to a progressive school.


The Canadians, well aware that they were from the senior dominion, were led by Borden, upright and handsome. They took a high moral tone (not for the first time in international relations), saying repeatedly that they wanted nothing for themselves. But with food to sell and a hungry Europe at hand the Canadian minister of trade managed to get agreements with France, Belgium, Greece and Rumania. The Canadians were also caught up in the general feeling that borders had suddenly become quite fluid. They chatted away happily with the Americans about exchanging the Alaska panhandle for some of the West Indies or possibly British Honduras.54 Borden also spoke to Lloyd George about the possibility of Canada’s taking over the administration of the West Indies.55


The main Canadian concern, however, was to keep on good terms with the United States and to bring it together with Britain. Part of this was self-interest: a recurring nightmare in Ottawa was that Canada might find itself fighting on the side of Britain and its ally Japan against the United States. Part was genuine conviction that the great Anglo-Saxon powers were a natural alliance for good. If the League of Nations did not work out, Borden suggested to Lloyd George, they should work for a union between ‘the two great English speaking commonwealths who share common ancestry, language and literature, who are inspired by like democratic ideals, who enjoy similar political institutions and whose united force is sufficient to ensure the peace of the world.’56


South Africa had two outstanding figures: its prime minister, General Louis Botha, who was overweight and ailing, and Smuts. Enthusiastic supporters of the League and moderate when it came to German peace terms, they nevertheless had one issue on which they would not compromise – Germany’s African colonies. Smuts, who helped to draw up Britain’s territorial demands, argued that Britain must keep East Africa (what later became Tanganyika and still later part of Tanzania) so that it could have the continuous chain of colonies from south to north Africa which the Germans had so inconveniently blocked. He also spoke as a South African imperialist. His country must keep German South West Africa (today’s Namibia). Perhaps, he suggested, Portugal could be persuaded to swap the southern part of its colony of Mozambique on the east side of Africa for a bit of German East Africa. South Africa would then be a nice compact shape with a tidy border drawn across the tip of the continent.57


Australia was not moderate on anything. Its delegation was led by its prime minister, Hughes, a scrawny dyspeptic who lived on tea and toast. A fighter on the Sydney docks, where he became a union organizer, and a veteran of the rough and tumble of Australian politics, Hughes made Australia’s policies in Paris virtually on his own. He was hot-tempered, idiosyncratic and deaf, both literally and figuratively, to arguments he did not want to hear. Among his own people, he usually listened only to Keith Murdoch, a young reporter whom he regarded as something of a son. Murdoch, who had written a report criticizing the British handling of the landings at Gallipoli, where Australian troops had been slaughtered, shared Hughes’ scepticism about British leadership.58 (Murdoch’s own son Rupert later carried on the family tradition of looking at the British with a critical eye.) On certain issues Hughes probably spoke for public opinion back home: Australia to annex the Pacific islands which it had captured from Germany, and nothing in the League covenant that would undermine the White Australia policy, which let white immigrants in and kept the rest out.


Lloyd George, always susceptible to the Welsh card, which Hughes played assiduously, generally found the Australian prime minister amusing. So did Clemenceau. The French also thought, rightly, that Hughes, who stood for firmness with Germany, was a good friend to France. Most people, including his own subordinates, found Hughes impossible. Wilson considered him ‘a pestiferous varmint’.59 Hughes in return loathed Wilson: he sneered at the League and jeered at Wilson’s principles.60 New Zealand shared Australia’s reservations about the League, although less loudly, and it too wanted to annex some Pacific islands. Its prime minister, William Massey, was, said a Canadian, ‘as thick headed and John Bullish as his appearance would lead one to expect and sidetracked the discussion more than once’.61


Then there was India. (It was always ‘the dominions and India’ in the official documents.) India had been included in the Imperial War Cabinet along with the self-governing dominions, thanks to its participation in the war. But its delegation did not look like that of an independent nation. It was headed by the secretary of state for India, Edwin Montagu, and the two Indian members, Lord Sinha and the Maharajah of Bikaner, were chosen for their loyalty. In spite of the urgings of various Indian groups, the Indian government had not appointed any of the new Indian nationalist leaders. And in India itself Gandhi’s transformation of the Indian National Congress into a mass political movement demanding self-government with increasing force was rapidly making quite academic all the debate about how to lead India gently towards a share of its own government and a share of the empire.


The British were to find the presence of so many dominion statesmen in Paris a mixed blessing. While Borden faithfully represented the British case in the committee dealing with Greek and Albanian borders, and Sir Joseph Cook of Australia did the same on Czechoslovakia, it was different when the dominions had something at stake. Lloyd George had already confronted his Allies on behalf of his dominions over representation and he was going to have to confront them again. It was not a complication he needed as the Peace Conference started its laborious negotiations.
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